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Group structure  
At 31 December 2009, the Group’s structure is as follows: 
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Directors’ report 
Dear shareholders,  
 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2009, drawn up under 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), show a profit for the year of €353 thousand, after income tax 
expense of €2,024 thousand and amortisation and depreciation of €36,265 thousand. 

The Parent’s separate financial statements, which are also prepared under IFRS, show a profit for 2009 of €677 
thousand after income tax expense of €327 thousand. 

Therefore, the results improved considerably in 2009 despite the worsening 
in the international economy. 
These results are influenced by the inflexible mechanism for adjusting 
interest rates on the senior bank loan with an original principal of €200 
million, taken out by the subsidiary, IVS Italia S.p.A. in March 2008. As is 
general practice, the interest rate is set for the duration of each year a few 
days before it starts. 
This effectively meant that the rate, at which interest was calculated for most 
of the first six months of 2009, was set in the first ten days of December 
2008. Given the interest rate trend in that period (see graph to the right), it is 
clear that the subsidiary paid a level of interest in early 2009 which was not 
in line with the current level after the first two months of 2009. Obviously, this 
mechanism, which is completely normal practice for the financial sector and 
that has currently led to greater costs, will become advantageous to the 
subsidiary when the interest rate trend inverts or increases1, although the 
hedge agreed by IVS Italia S.p.A on part of the senior loan should be 
considered (see later in this report). 

Introduction 
In 2008, as the Parent was a financial holding company and met the conditions set out in article 2.f/g of Legislative 
decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005, as referred to by article 3 of the same decree, it was permitted to not prepare 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS. On the other hand, its subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. was 
required to prepare consolidated financial statements and could not avail of the exemption from preparation that would 
have been available had its Parent presented consolidated financial statements. Therefore, it was allowed to and opted 
to prepare its consolidated financial statements under IFRS. It also chose to prepare its separate financial statements at 
31 December 2008 under IFRS. Due to the above and because of the excessive burden arising from the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements under Italian GAAP, IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. did not draw up consolidated 
financial statements at 31 December 2008.  
In 2009, as the quantitative thresholds giving the Parent the facility to prepare its financial statements in a condensed 
format were exceeded, the Parent chose to adopt IFRS. 

Therefore, the 2008 corresponding figures set out in the financial schedules and notes derive from unaudited 
consolidated financial statements which were not previously delivered to you. 

Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2009 are the first to be prepared pursuant to IFRS. 
Indeed, Legislative decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005, implementing Law no. 306 of 31 October 2003 (which was 
enacted following the enforcement of EC regulation no. 1606/2002), gives unlisted companies that prepare consolidated 
financial statements the option to adopt the IFRS issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB). IVS 
GROUPPP HOLDING S.p.A. availed of this option and has prepared its consolidated and separate financial statements 
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2009 under IFRS. Accordingly, it started the transition process which 
terminated with the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements at 31 December 2009 for their 
approval. IFRS adoption entailed, inter alia, the presentation of comparative financial statements, drawn up in 
accordance with the IFRS. Therefore, the IFRS transition date is 1 January 2008. With respect solely to the separate 
financial statements, the reconciliation between the figures at 31 December 2008 presented under Italian GAAP and 
previously approved and the restated figures under IFRS is included in the notes.  

                                                           
1  The Group had already benefitted from this mechanism in early 2008 when the EURIBOR increased, although the difference was not as great as that seen in 2009. 
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The Parent has prepared a single directors’ report for consolidated and separate financial statements as allowed by the 
amendments to article 40 of Legislative decree no. 127/1991, following enactment of EC directive no. 2003/51/EC, which 
introduced the new paragraph 2-bis. 

Performance indicators 
In order to facilitate an understanding of performance and financial figures, the Parent uses certain generally-accepted 
indicators, which are not however envisaged by IFRS. Specifically, the income statement includes the following 
indicators and sub-totals: gross operating profit from continuing operations, gross operating profit, operating profit, which 
are the sum of the captions preceding them. 
It uses similar indicators for its net financial indebtedness, the components of which are described in the relative section 
of the notes.  
The definitions of these indicators used by the Parent may not match those adopted by other companies/groups and, 
therefore, should not be compared. This is because they are not envisaged under IFRS. 
This report includes many performance, financial and non-financial indicators, including those mentioned above. The 
performance indicators derive from the financial statements schedules and include the tables summarising the Group’s 
results of operations, financial position and cash flows with comparative and other prior year figures (e.g., changes on 
the previous year in revenue, gross operating profit from continuing operations and operating profit and changes as a 
percentage of revenue). Inclusion of figures not taken directly from the financial statements and comments and 
valuations contribute to a better understanding of changes in such figures. 
  
The directors’ report also includes a number of financial ratios which are helpful to better understand the Group’s 
performance, especially with respect to differences compared to previous years. The section on net financial 
indebtedness in the notes also contains information about the effects of changes in interest rates on the Group’s 
performance and financial position. 

Changes in the consolidation perimeter  
The consolidated financial statements comprise the separate financial statements of the Parent, IVS GROUP HOLDING 
S.p.A., and the Italian and foreign companies over which it has exercises, either directly or indirectly (through its 
subsidiaries and associates), control, governing their financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their 
activities. 
The main changes in the consolidation perimeter compared to 31 December 2008 are the following:  

- the Group acquired the entire share capital of Vending System Italia S.p.A. (which in turn wholly owns Ivan 
Caffè S.r.l.) in April 2009; 

- it formalised the acquisition of the entire quota capital of Italdrink S.r.l. (formerly Italdrink di F. Russo & C. 
S.a.S.) in September 2009; 

- it formalised the acquisition of the entire quota capital of O.D.A. S.r.l. in January 2009; 
- Chicco Vending S.r.l., Orizzonte 2000 S.r.l. and Bevo e Mangio S.r.l. were merged into IVS Italia S.p.A. with 

accounting and tax effect from 1 January 2009 (the latter already fully owned these companies which were 
consolidated); 

- the two subsidiaries of IVS Italia S.p.A. operating in the western provinces of Liguria, DDS S.p.A. and Coffee 
System S.p.A., became one company with tax and accounting effect from 1 January 2009. The latter company, 
wholly owned by IVS Italia S.p.A., was merged into DDS S.p.A., over which IVS Italia S.p.A. then had 71% 
control, up from 51% due to the different controlling percentages between the merging and merged companies; 

- DAV S.A. sold Spanish-based Bymatic S.A. to third parties; 
- Parodis S.a.s. transferred its investment in Plus S.a.s. to Espresso Service Proximitè S.A., which is 22.1% 

controlled by Parodis S.a.s. and 14.8% by the Parent, IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A., at 31 December 2009; 
- the Group acquired 4.9% of the French subsidiary Mega S.a.s. from third parties. 

The section “Consolidation scope” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2009 includes 
details of the control percentages and consolidation methods. 

Significant events of the year 
IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. operates in the vending sector and the principle activities are the sale and supply of 
goods, food and beverages via automated and semiautomated vending machines. It sells its products in Italy, France 
and Spain through its operating and management offices as well as through a network of more than 50 warehouses and 
logistics points strategically located in these countries. 
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The impact of the economic crisis was felt up to June 2009, during which consumption levels fluctuated between the first 
and second half of the month. Subsequently, stabilized in the second half of the year. 

Despite the international fallout of the financial crisis, the IVS Group increased its turnover by 11% in 2009 compared to 
2008, thanks to a number of factors, some of which compensated others. These factors, which had a significant effect on 
the Goup’s profit for the year, mainly related to: 

- acqusitions of important companies (first and foremost, the Milan-based Vending System Italia, the Naples-
based O.D.A. and the Turin-based O.D.A.); 

- acquisitions of new customers as a result of internal development and integrations (acquisitions and/or leases) 
of companies and business units; 

- new product launches; 
- smaller consumption as a result of the financial crisis; 
- development of previously unserved market segments. 

The key factor that undoubtedly had the greatest impact on the year was the consumers’ extreme mobility, due to the 
large movements of employees in offices, factories and commercial sites as a direct result of the economic crisis that 
has hit employers. 
This led to the decision to reorganise most of the network of vending machines at companies, offices, factories and other 
business premises. In fact, the Group relocated more than 37 thousand machines during 2009 due to new installations, 
withdrawals and replacements. Its objective was to reconfigure its network to reflect the different consumer presence in 
the rooms housing the automated vending machines. This complex procedure significantly affected the Group’s income 
statement. 
Alongside this reorganisation, the Group continued to develop the commercial side of its business aimed at developing 
the intermediate market segment2 (which continues to be the only segment currently ignored by the main competitors) 
and completing its Customer Care network. At the same time introduced measures to stimulate demand, encouraging 
customers’ buying impulse by rotating products in the key positions and introducing new products, also so as to offer 
different prices and varieties. 

The Group also moved forward its project to reorganise and streamline the logistics network units. This impacted both 
outlying warehouses and the individual companies by merging or combining them, as was the case for the two 
companies in Liguria. The project’s timing was accelerated by the acquisition of new companies, especially in Lombardy 
and Lazio (for Vending System Italia S.p.A.), Campania (Italdrink S.r.l.) and Piedmont (O.D.A. S.r.l.). All the business 
units of the acquired companies have been leased to IVS Italia S.p.A.. 

Two joint ventures were set up with major Italian companies active in the food sector. 
The subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. acquired a 50% stake in Time Vending S.r.l., the Cremonini Group company active in the 
vending sector, which became the joint venture’s SPE, incorporating the group’s activities and setting up a new internal 
team for the joint development of projects and synergies by the two groups. 
Another joint venture was concurrently started up with Luigi Lavazza S.p.A. to promote the coffee portion packs on the 
French market. Through its French subsidiary, Parodis, the Group contributed the subsidiary Plus S.A., very active in this 
sector in France, to the joint venture. At 31 December 2009, the newco Espresso Service Proximitè SA was 22.1% 
controlled by Parodis S.a.s. and 14.8% by IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A., which acquired such stake directly from Luigi 
Lavazza S.p.A.. 
During 2009, the Parent set up a national tax consolidation scheme joined by all the Italian group companies controlled 
thereby at 1 January 2009. All those companies, control of which was acquired in 2009, will join the scheme on 1 
January 2010.  

Finally, IVS Italia S.p.A. negotiated both a change to its credit facilities with the senior loan banks (to exceed such loan 
and use a facility against the VAT receivable) and its covenants in order to align them to the changed market prospects 
for the current and subsequent years.  

Performance  

IVS Group Holding S.p.A’s operating revenue for 2009 comes to €26,271 thousand which, as shown in the following 
table, nearly entirely derived from its core business of selling automated vending machines.  

  

                                                           
2 Segments consisting of communities of between five to 20 persons. 
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(thousands of Euros) 2009 2008 Variation Var. % 

Revenue from sales and services 26,195 13,423 12,772 95% 

Other revenue and income 76 19 57 300% 

Total 26,271 13,442 12,829 95% 

Its production revenue amounts to €270,441 thousand, including €261,044 thousand generated by its core administrative 
services activities. The following table provides a geographical breakdown of the Group’s operations:  

(thousands of Euros) Italy Spain France Total 

Production revenue          232,928            13,670           23,843     270,441  

Operating costs -        197,332  -           9,849  -        14,349  -  221,530  

Gross operating profit            35,596              3,822            9,494       48,911  

Gross operating profit/production revenue % 15% 28% 40% 18% 

Amortisation and depreciation -          30,838  -           2,033  -         3,393  -    36,265  

Operating profit             4,757              1,789            6,101       12,647  

Operating profit/production revenue % 2% 13% 26% 5% 

The Group’s Italian business includes the corporate and management activities which obviously also benefit the foreign 
group companies, that thus avoid having to set up similar structures. 

Operating costs amount to €221,443 thousand, of which €25,337 thousand incurred by the Parent and €170,730 
thousand by its main subsidiary, IVS Italia S.p.A.. The cost of purchasing raw materials equalled 29% of revenue.  
Amortisation, depreciation, provisions and impairment losses amount to €36,265 thousand, including amortisation of 
€2,101 thousand, depreciation of €34,162 thousand and other impairment losses of €2 thousand. Amortisation and 
depreciation come to €32,265 thousand. Services come to €33,566 thousand and mainly consist of costs for the use of 
third party assets (€7,995 thousand). 
Personnel expenses, which include the cost of filling the vending machines, amount to €79,359 thousand compared to 
€71,767 thousand for 2008, of which €59,447 thousand relate solely to the subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A.. The increase in 
this caption is due to the higher number of employees after the acquisitions carried out during the year.  
Other operating costs of €30,071 thousand (2008: €32,963 thousand) include €27,955 thousand related to IVS Italia 
S.p.A.. The largest item relates to loyalty bonuses awarded to customers. 
The Group’s financial expense was commented on at the start of this report. It derives from the bond issue (€2,516 
thousand), the Intesa San Paolo loan taken out by IVS Italia S.p.A. (€8,501 thousand), the BNL loan taken out by 
Vending System Italia S.p.A. (€161 thousand) and other financing and expense (€2,616 thousand, including €411 
thousand for derivatives that do not meet the requirements for hedge accounting and are, therefore, considered to be 
speculative). 
The notes to the consolidated and separate financial statements provide more information about the financial statements 
captions. This section solely summarises the financial highlights presenting the appropriate ratios for 2009 compared 
with prior year figures. 

Events after the reporting date 
The banks which provided the senior loan agreed to IVS Italia’s requests in early 2010. 
Accordingly the subsidiary could use a facility against its VAT receivable up to the maximum limit of €10,000 and 
€15,000 thousand for the Parent. 
The receivable arose on the difference between the average VAT rate applicable to sales (4.3%) and that on purchases 
of goods, assets, services and investments in operating assets (just under 20%). It is generated annually on this 
difference and varies from €13 million to €19 million. The tax authorities usually take between 10 and 18 months to 
reimburse claims presented by the group companies each quarter. 
At the same time, IVS Italia S.p.A. renegotiated the covenants on its loan agreements (debt/gross operating profit ratio 
and gross opearting profit/financial expense ratio) to align them with the new business plan agreed to reflect the 
changed market prospects, as the current covenants are no longer valid or sustainable. 
The Parent waived its right to part of the interest on the shareholders’ loan granted to IVS Italia S.p.A in the past in order 
to comply with the requirement in the senior loan agreement entered into by the subsidiary with its banks which set a 
minimum €50 million ceiling for its equity. The Parent confirmed this commitment when its subsidiary renegotiated the 
loan, which included the following additional requests: 
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• subordination of all amounts due by IVS Italia S.p.A. to its Parent as a result of trading transactions, VAT 
advances and subordination and postponement of the repayment of the shareholders’ loan; 

• IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. will waive its right to collect interest on the shareholders’ loan, which will 
nonetheless continue to accrue, up to either (i) the date of full repayment of Tranche C of the loan and (ii) 31 
March 2012, whichever is later; 

• the commitment to provide the subsidiary with another €5 million to strengthen its financial position. 
 

After having evaluated these requests, the directors held that they are in the Group’s interests and will therefore sign the 
relevant documents before the date of approval of the subsidiary’s financial statements.  
 
Integration of the Lombardy branch of Vending System Italia S.p.A. was completed in early 2010 with the closure of its 
operating base in Lacchiarella (MI), finalised in April 2010. Its logistics network was split between the warehouses in 
Codogno (LO), Trezzo sull’Adda (BG) and Fino Mornasco (CO) while the Como branch’s new offices are being built in 
the Rovello Porro municipality. They will serve the entire north western metropolitan area of Milan. 

Outlook 
The IVS Group made a profit of €353 thousand for 2009 with equity attributable to the owners of the Parent of €50,870 
thousand. At year end, the Group had net financial indebtedness of €229,435 thousand with banks, €126,056 thousand 
with bondholders and €755 thousand with shareholders. 
The Parent has recognised the senior loan liability to banks as a non-current liability given that IVS Italia S.p.A. has 
renegotiated the financial covenants provided for in the related senior loan agreement in its favour. Under the IFRS, the 
liability should have been recognised as a current liability as the negotiations took place after the reporting date. However, 
in compliance with the Standards, which IVS Italia S.p.A. adopted in its 2008 financial statements (which was prepared 
using the current acconting policies), created significant problems with suppliers and other financial entities related thereto 
as they interpreted the financial statements incorrectly and misunderstood the company’s real situation from the simple 
reading of the financial statements. 
Management updated the business plan towards the end of the year. This was approved by the subsidiary’s board of 
directors and presented to the Parent’s board of directors in December. The plan showed that the assumptions about the 
subsidiary’s income and cash flow generating ability are reasonable and feasible. 
These assumptions were reflected in the valuation about the recoverability of assets recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements, considering the banks’ acceptance of the proposed changes to the senior loan agreement. 
At present, it is not deemed necessary for the Parent to inject additional funds to allow the subsidiary to meet its financial 
commitments which will be met with its own resources, given also the project to streamline and integrate the Group.   

Performance and financial indicators 

(thousands of Euros) 

Consolidated IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. 

31 December 2009 % 31 December 2008 % 31 December 2009 % 31 December 2008 % 

Non-current assets (NCA)          458,935  88.6%            419,578  88%       218,541  100.0%        199,828  91% 

Current assets (CA)            47,417  9.2%             41,928  9%         27,101  12.4%          18,643  9% 

Cash (C)            11,772  2.3%             14,693  3%               32  0.0%                85  0% 

Invested capital          518,124  100%            476,199  100%       245,674  112%        218,556  100% 

Non-current liabilities  (NCL)          335,233  64.7%            169,799  35.7%       142,134  65.0%        134,641  61.6% 

Current liabilities (CL)          132,022  25.5%            269,350  56.6%         30,425  13.9%          11,476  5.3% 

Own funds (OF)            50,870  9.8%             51,742  10.9%         73,115  33.5%          72,438  33.1% 

Loan capital (LC)          518,124  100%            490,892  103%       245,674  112%        218,556  100% 

 

(thousands of Euros) 

Consolidated IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. 

31 December 2009 31 December 2008 31 December 2009 31 December 2008 

Equity ratio (own funds/invested capital) 10% 11% 30% 33% 

Total debt ratio ((non-current liabilities+current liabilities)/invested capital) 90% 92% 70% 67% 

Invested capital/own funds ratio 1019% 920% 336% 302% 

Total debt ratio (non-current liabilities/invested capital) 65% 36% 58% 62% 

Current liabilities/invested capital ratio 25% 57% 12% 5% 

(Non-current liabilities+current liabilities)/own funds ratio 919% 849% 236% 202% 
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(thousands of Euros) 

Consolidated IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. 

31 December 2009 31 December 2008 31 December 2009 31 December 2008 

Current assets+cash/current liabilities 45% 21% 89% 163% 

Equity to non-current assets ratio 84% 53% 98% 104% 

Own funds less non-current assets (own funds-non-current assets) -        408,065 -       367,836 -          145,426 -      127,390 

Net working capital (current assets+cash-current liabilities) -          72,832 -       212,729 -             3,292 7,251 

 

(thousands of Euros) 

Consolidated IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. 

31 December 2009 31 December 2008 31 December 2009 31 December 2008 

ROE 0% -14% 1% 1% 

ROI 3% 4% 0% 0% 

ROD (Financial expense/third party funds) -4% -15% 0% 0% 

ROS 6% 8% 4% 5% 

Gross operating profit 51,377 53,910 961 721 

Operating profit 15,003 20,841 961 721 

Inventory turnover (days) 21 35 33 139 

DSO 13 15 325 264 

DPO 161 129 301 85 

BEP 78% 84% 31% 26% 

Revenue at breakeven          211,994         218,413               8,225            3,489 

Revenue at monthly breakeven            17,666           18,201                  685              291 

BEP in days per year                286               307                  114                95 

BEP in days per month                  24                 25                     9                  8 

Investments 

In addition to the acquisitions of companies described earlier, the group companies’ main investments made in 2009 
related to the purchase of operating assets, such as vending machines, token dispensers and payment systems, 
vehicles and transport vehicles. These investments were made to upgrade and renew the existing machinery and 
equipment in order to meet customers’ changing requirements, to improve customer service and, accordingly, strengthen 
and develop the Group’s position in its reference market. 
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Reconciliation of the profit for the year of the Parent and its equity at 31 December 2009 with those 
of the Group 

Profit of the Parent (IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A.)              676  

Consolidation adjustments:                  -   

- Share of profit or loss of consolidated companies (under IFRS)              453  

- Elimination of intragroup dividends collected during the year -            552  

- Reversal of impairment losses (reversals of impairment losses) in consolidated investments              958  

- Elimination of intragroup profits (losses) and other changes -            831  

= Profit of the Group              704  

- Attributable to non-controlling interests              317  

= Attributable to the owners of the Parent              387  

Equity of the Parent (IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A.)         73,115  

Consolidation adjustments:                  -   

- Elimination of the carrying amount of consolidated investments                  -   

• Equity of the consolidated companies at the date of first consolidation -      97,962  

• Equity of the consolidated companies measured under IFRS         79,314  

- Elimination of profits (losses) on intragroup transactions -         3,247  

= Consolidated equity         51,220  

- Equity attributable to non-controlling interests           4,956  

= Equity attributable to the owners of the Parent         46,264  

Research & Development  

The Group did not carry out any R&D activities during the year, given the nature of its business. 

Related party transactions 
Transactions with related parties, presented in the consolidated and separate financial statements, related to: 

• the subsidiaries of IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A.;  

• the associates; 

• other related parties. 
The notes to the financial statements include details of related party transactions. They are undertaken in the Parent’s 
interests of consolidating existing synergies within the Group in terms of production, commercial and logistics integration, 
the efficient use of expertise and skills and streamlining of central structures and financial resources. 
All transactions with related parties, both related to the exchange of goods or services and of a financial nature, take 
place at market conditions. No atypical or unusual transactions were performed during the year. 

Transactions with shareholders 
The notes provide details of small loans received from certain shareholders and/or their related parties. 

Transactions with subsidiaries and associates 
These transactions are of a commercial (exchange of goods and/or services) and financial nature. 
At the end of 2009, IVS Italia S.p.A. sold the Parent the business unit which prepares and stocks new vending machines 
and provides them to the group companies on a regular basis. 
Moreover, the Parent has granted IVS Italia S.p.A. a loan of €124,540 thousand indexed to the reference rate (former 
discount rate).  
Reference should be made to the notes for more information about transactions with subsidiaries and associates. 

Transactions with other related parties 
Transactions with other related parties are of a commercial nature and mostly consist of the exchange of goods and/or 
services such as management fees, fees and consideration for services, lease expense, etc.. Reference should be 
made to the notes for more information about transactions with other related parties. 
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Own shares and shares/quotas of parents 
IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. does not hold nor has it held, purchased or sold, either directly or indirectly via trustees or 
nominees, treasury shares or shares of its shareholders. 

Risks and uncertainties  
Risk management (internal and external, social, industrial, political and financial risks) is an integrated part of the 
Group’s growth strategy and essential to its ongoing development of its corporate governance system. Its aim is to 
protect stakeholders (employees, customers, suppliers and shareholders) and the Group’s assets by improving codes of 
conduct.  

As mentioned at the start of this report, the international crisis, unprecedented in its scope and rapid spread, steadily 
damaged the global economy and constituted a risk for the Group. This difficult situation was worsened by the financial 
scenario characterised by rising uncertainty and an inflexible system which made it very difficult to act. 
The Group countered this situation by adjusting its financial position and introducing policies to contain costs and rebuild 
its commercial portfolios. The effects of the crisis would seem to have stabilised as does demand at the individual sales 
points. 

The Group monitors its financial risks on an ongoing basis to assess in advance any potential effects and undertake the 
necessary actions to mitigate or counter them. 

It has not made investments in financial assets nor in current financial assets (shares, bonds or atypical securities) such 
that warrant particular caution or explanations about how to measure the impact of the economic recession and collapse 
of the financial markets thereon. 

The Group is exposed to the following normal financial risks as part of its business activities: 

Credit risk 
The Group does not have significant concentrations of non-collection risk. 

Liquidity risk 
This is the risk that the Group cannot generate sufficient cash flows from its operations to cover investments and third 
party debt. Although the current bank credit facilities (roughly €17 million) are sufficient to meet its requirements, given 
the operating limit agreed with the banks that provided the senior loan, the Group intends to have a debt level able to 
balance average loan repayments with flexible and diversified sources of funding. Accordingly, each group company is 
free to negotiate credit facilities and to agree diversified sources of funding (e.g., loans, finance leases, bank credit 
facilities, etc.) as long as the covenants of the loan agreement between IVS Italia S.p.A. and its banks (described earlier) 
are respected. Forecast cash flows from operating activities for the next few years will allow the Group to steadily 
decrease its third party debt, as provided for in its business plan, as the majority of the investments in property, plant and 
equipment, business units and equity investments have been completed. 

Interest rate risk 
This is the risk related to future cash flows from financing transactions at floating interest rates. A change in interest rates 
affects the fair value of floating rate financial assets and liabilities and may impact a company’s future results. The 
subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. has agreed a plain vanilla IRS for Tranche A of the senior bank loan, effective from 10 
December 2011. 

The Group is not involved in any legal disputes about products sold, unfair competition or market practices, nor does it 
have any related financial obligations. 

Other information 
The Parent has not given loans to or guarantees on behalf of its directors or statutory auditors during the year nor do 
these exist at the reporting date. 

It has updated its Data protection document, required by article 34.1-bis of Legislative decree no. 196 of 30 June 2003.  

Environment and energy policies 
The Group complies with all current regulations and laws in relation to the protection of the environment and the local 
community, and has done so for some time. A key part of its policies is the recycling of all reusable materials and 
selection of operating assets that have energy saving options; this is also to contain costs.  

IVS Italia S.p.A. is assessing whether to adopt a project to obtain ISO 14001 or EMAS certification. 
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§§§§§§ 

Conclusions 
Dear shareholders, 

We believe that we clearly illustrated the Group’s position at 31 December 2009 and its performance during the year. 

We invite you to approve the separate financial statements and the allocation of €61 thousand of the profit for the year to 
the legal reserve with the rest going to the extraordinary reserve together with the losses carried forward from 2008 for a 
total of €1,152 thousand. 

We thank you for your trust in us and invite you to approve the separate financial statements as they stand. 
Seriate, 28 May 2010 
 
 On behalf of the Board of directors 
 Chairman 
 Cesare Cerea  
 (signed on the original) 
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Consolidated financial statements 

Financial statements  

Statement of financial position 
(€’000)   Note 31 December 

2009 
  31 December 

2008 

ASSETS 
     Non-current assets 
     Intangible assets 
 

4 12,851 
 

12,657 
Goodwill 

 
4 284,620 

 
259,337 

Property, plant and equipment 
 

5 145,242 
 

136,627 
Buildings 

 
5       1,169  

 
1,208 

Equity investments and loans and receivables 
 

6 6,058 
 

2,811 
Deferred tax assets 

 
17 8,774 

 
6,670 

Other non-current assets 
 

7 221 
 

269 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS A 

 
458,935 

 
419,578 

Current assets 
     Inventories 
 

8 15,369 
 

    22,164  
Trade receivables 

 
9 9,913 

 
    10,781  

Tax assets 
 

10       1,505  
 

         765  
Other current assets 

 
11 20,629 

 
    22,910  

Cash and cash equivalents 
 

12 11,772 
 

    14,693  
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS B 

 
59,189 

 
71,314 

Discontinued operations/assets held for sale C 
 

        -  
 

        -  
TOTAL ASSETS A+B+C 

 
518,124 

 
490,892 

      EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
     Equity  
     Share capital 
 

14 64,002 
 

    64,002  
Reserves 

 
14 17,401 

 
      7,316  

Losses carried forward 
 

14 -35,526 
 

-   16,441  
Profit (loss) for the year 

 
14 37 

 
-     7,434  

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNER OF THE PARENT D 
 

45,914 
 

47,444 
Share capital and reserves attributable to non-controlling interests 

 
14 4,640 

 
3,979 

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 
 

14 317 
 

320 
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 

  
4,956 

 
4,299 

Share capital and reserves 
 

14 50,517 
 

58,856 
Profit (loss) for the year 

 
14 353 

 
-7,114 

EQUITY 
  

50,870 
 

51,742 
Non-current liabilities 

     Bonds 
 

18   126,056  
 

123,581 
Shareholders’ loans 

 
18          755  

 
      1,496  

Non-current loan liabilities 
 

18   191,247  
 

    27,477  
Employee benefits 

 
15       5,779  

 
      5,550  

Provisions for risks and charges 
 

16          559  
 

         566  
Deferred tax liabilities 

 
17     10,837  

 
    10,705  

Other non-current liabilities 
  

0 
 

         423  
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES E 

 
335,233 

 
169,799 

Current liabilities 
     Current loan liabilities 
 

18 48,008 
 

  202,948  
Derivatives 

 
18 1,974 

 
         717  

Trade payables 
  

62,320 
 

    47,460  
Tax liabilities 

 
10          858  

 
      1,405  

Other current liabilities 
 

19 18,862 
 

    16,820  
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES F 

 
132,022 

 
269,350 

Liabilities associated with discontinued operations/assets held for sale G 
 

        -  
 

        -  
TOTAL LIABILITIES (H=E+F+G) 

 
467,255      439,150 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES D+H 
 

518,124 
 

490,892 
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Income statement 
 
 
 
(€’000) Note 2009 % 2008 % 

Revenue from sales and services 21 261,064 100% 234,368 100% 

Other revenue and income 22 9,377 
 

25,411 
 Raw materials, supplies and consumables  23 -78,447 

 
-73,333 

 Services 24 -33,566 
 

-27,846 
 Personnel expenses 25 -79,359 

 
-71,767 

 Other operating costs and income 26 -30,071 
 

-32,963 
 Gross operating profit from continuing operations 

 
48,998 19% 53,870 23% 

Net losses on disposal of non-current assets 27 -87 
 

-730 
 Other income, net 27 2,382 

 
685 

 Gross operating profit 
 

51,293 20% 53,825 23% 

Amortisation and depreciation 
 

-36,265 
 

-32,407 
 Operating profit 

 
15,028 6% 21,418 9% 

Net impairment losses  29 -109 
 

-662 
 Financial expense 28 -13,794 

 
-25,521 

 Financial income 28 1,579 
 

709 
 Net exchange gains (losses) and net gains (losses) on derivatives 28 -411 

 
-553 

 Share of profit of equity-accounted investees 6 84 
 

85 
 Profit (loss) 

 
2,377 0.91% -4,525 -2% 

Losses from discontinued operations 
 

0 
 

- 
 Profits from discontinued operations 

 
0 

 
- 

 Profit (loss) before tax 
 

2,377 0.91% -4,525 -2% 

Current tax expense 30 -3,218 
 

-5,476 
 Deferred tax income 30 1,194 

 
2,888 

 Profit (loss) for the year 
 

353 0.14% -7,113 -3% 

  
0 

   Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 
 

317 0.12% 320 0.14% 

  
0 

   Profit (loss) attributable to the owners of the Parent 
 

37 0.01% -7,433 -3% 

      

                

Statement of comprehensive income   
2009   2008   

Profit (loss) for the year 353 -7,113 

Net fair value losses on hedging derivatives -929 -428 

Total other comprehensive expense -576 -7,541 
of which: other comprehensive income  
attributable to non-controlling interests 295 320 
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Statement of changes in equity 

 
(€’000) 31 December 

2007 
Allocation 

of 
Change 

in 
Compre-
hensive 
expense 

Dividends Other 31 December 
2008 

Allocation 
of 

Change 
in 

Compre-
hensive 
expense 

Dividends Other 31 December 
2009 

profit 
(loss) 

cons. 
scope 

profit 
(loss) 

cons. 
scope 

Share capital 64,002 
     

64,002 
     

64,002 

Share premium reserve 2,498 
     

2,498 
     

2,498 

Legal reserve - 70 
    

70 531 
    

601 

Statutory reserve - 277 
    

277 
     

277 

FTA reserve 562 
     

562 
     

562 

Hedging reserve 427 
  

-427 
  

0 
  

-929 
  

-929 

Other reserves -1,150 
 

-38 
   

-1,188 
 

2 
   

-1,780 

Capital injections for future capital increase - 
    

5,090 5,090 
     

5,090 

Retained earnings (losses carried forward) -11,747 -4,583 
   

-102 -16,433 -7,964 
   

-46 -24,443 

Profit (loss) for the year -4,237 4,236 
 

-7,432 
  

-7,433 7,433 
 

37 
  

37 

Equity attributable to the owners of the Parent 50,354 
 

-38 -7,859 0 4,988 47,445 0 -592 -892 0 -46 45,914 

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 3,958   -8 320 -74 102 4,298 
 

295 317 - 46 4,956 

Total equity 54,312 
 

-45 -7,539 -74 5,090 51,743 0 -297 -575 0 0 50,870 
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Statement of cash flows 
(€’000) 2009 2008 

A) Cash flows from operating activities 
  Profit (loss) before tax 2,377 -4,525 

Adjustments for: 
  Undistributed profit (loss) recognised in equity 24 -85 

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses 36,641 33,288 

(Gains)/losses on disposal of non-current assets -115 730 

Changes in employee benefits and other provisions -2,020 201 

Reversal of financial expense 11,959 25,365 

Cash flows from operating activities before tax, 

48,866 54,975  financial income/expense and change in working capital: 

Change in working capital 7,774 -1,292 

Cash flows from operating activities 

56,640 53,683  before tax and financial income/expense: 

Net financial expense paid -9,857 -21,608 

Tax paid -4,016 -3,833 

Total A) 42,767 28,242 

B) Cash flows used in investing activities: 
  Investments in non-current assets: 
  Intangible assets -1,072 -5,927 

Property, plant and equipment -23,184 -32,991 

Business units  -1,392 -2,776 

Financial assets (equity investments), net of cash acquired -7,028 -1990 

Total investments -32,676 -43,684 

Proceeds from disposal of net non-current assets 2,986 3,445 

Total divestments 2,986 3,445 

Change in consolidation scope -833 -11,795 

Total B) -30,523 -52,034 

C) Cash flows from (used in) financing activities: 
  New non-current loan liabilities: 14,839 238,924 

Repayment of non-current loan liabilities: -37,326 -205,127 

Change in current financial liabilities: 7,086 -12,054 

Change in financial assets -1,014 -49 

Dividends distributed: - -74 

Share capital increase 1,250 5,090 

Change in consolidation scope of financing activities 
  Total C) -15,165 26,710 

D) Exchange rate differences and other changes: 
  E) Change in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C+D): -2,921 2,918 

F) Opening cash and cash equivalents: 14,693 11,775 

Closing cash and cash equivalents (E+F) 11,772 14,693 

 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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Corporate information 
The consolidated financial statements of the IVS Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2010 was approved 
by the board of directors on 28 May 2010.  
IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. is a company limited by shares incorporated and domiciled in Italy, which directly and 
indirectly controls a number of companies that operate in the vending market , i.e., in the sale of products through 
automated and semi-automated vending machines installed at unattended points of sale (businesses, schools, hospitals, 
railway stations and other public places). These machines offer their services 24 hours a day and consumers purchase 
products through the introduction of coins, banknotes, prepaid cards and other means of payment.  
In 2008, as the Parent was a financial holding company and met the conditions set out in article 2.f/g of Legislative 
decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005, as referred to by article 3 of same decree, it could not prepare consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS. On the other hand, its subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. was required to prepare 
consolidated financial statements and could not avail of the exemption from preparation that would have been available 
had its Parent presented consolidated financial statements. Therefore, it could opt to prepare its consolidated financial 
statements under IFRS, which it did. It also chose to prepare its separate financial statements at 31 December 2008 
under IFRS. Due to the above and because of the excessive burden arising from the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements under Italian GAAP, IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. did not draw up consolidated financial 
statements at 31 December 2008.   
In 2009, as the quantitative thresholds giving the parent the faculty to prepare its financial statements in a condensed 
format were exceeded, the Parent choose to draw up its financial statements under IFRS. 
Therefore, the 2008 corresponding figures set out in the financial schedules and notes derive from unaudited 
consolidated financial statements which have never been published.  

At the reporting date, the subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. did not satisfy a number of covenants provided for in the loan it 
agreed with a bank syndicate (original amount: €200,000 thousand). Therefore, the subsidiary requested and obtained 
the lending banks’ consent to change the above covenants, which will be implemented by signing an amendment to the 
loan agreement before the date of the shareholders’ meeting called to approve the financial statements. In the 
meantime, IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A., IVS Italia S.p.A. and the lending banks will sign an amendment and 
supplement to the subordination and postponement agreement signed on 5 March 2008, whereby all amounts due by 
IVS Italia S.p.A. to its Parent as a result of trading transactions and VAT advances will be subordinated and the 
repayment of the shareholders’ loan subordinated and postponed. Moreover: 

• IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. will waive its right to collect interest on the shareholders’ loans, which will 
nonetheless continue to accrue, up to either (i) the date of full repayment of Tranche C of the loan or (ii) 31 
March 2012, whichever is later;  

• the Parent will provide the subsidiary with another €5 million to strengthen its financial position. 
After having evaluated these requests, the directors held that they are in the Group’s interests and will therefore sign the 
relevant documents before the date of approval of the subsidiary’s financial statements.  
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The outstanding 
repayments of the above-mentioned loan have been classified as current and non-current, as provided for in the original 
repayment plan. Indeed, notwithstanding the provisions of IAS1.74, the Parent believes that, by signing the amendment 
to the loan agreement, the lending banks will confirm that there are no significant uncertainties about the subsidiary’s 
ability to continue as a going concern despite the difficult market conditions, also thanks to the measures already 
identified, which will enable it to respond to the changed demand levels, and its industrial and financial flexibility. 

Accounting policies 

1- Statement of compliance with the IFRS 
Legislative decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005, implementing Law no. 306 of 31 October 2003 (which was enacted 
following the enforcement of EC regulation no. 1606/2002), gives unlisted companies that prepare consolidated financial 
statements the option to adopt the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International 
Accounting Standard Board (IASB) and endorsed by the EU. 
IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A availed of this option and has prepared its consolidated and separate financial statements 
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2009 under IFRS. Accordingly, it started the transition process which 
terminated with the approval of the consolidated and separate financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 
December 2009. IFRS adoption entailed, inter alia, the presentation of comparative financial statements drawn up in 
accordance with the IFRS. Therefore, the IFRS transition date is 1 January 2008.  
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These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IFRS effective at 31 December 
2009, as endorsed by the Commission of the European Communities. Pursuant to EC regulation no. 1606 of 19 July 
2002, the Parent did not consider standards and interpretations published by the IASB and the IFRIC but not endorsed 
by the EU at the reporting date. A number of new standards and interpretations have been endorsed by the EU 
compared to 31 December 2008. Specifically: 

- IAS 1 (revised) “Presentation of financial statements”, endorsed by the EU in December 2008. This introduced 
the presentation of a statement of comprehensive income that includes, in addition to the usual income and 
expense items, those that were previously recognised directly in equity. The Group chose to adopt two separate 
schedules: an income statement presenting the traditional items forming the profit or loss for the period and the 
statement of comprehensive income that begins with the profit or loss for the period and details the other items 
of comprehensive income that were previously presented only in the statement of changes in equity, i.e., fair 
value gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets and derivatives and exchange rate gains or losses. 

- IFRS 7 “Financial instruments: disclosures”: endorsed by the EU on 27 November 2009 and applicable from 1 
January 2009. It requires an entity to disclose the sources of the inputs necessary to determine fair value, using 
a three-level hierarchy, when measuring the fair value of financial instruments. 

The following standards, amendments and interpretations endorsed by the EU and applicable from 1 January 2009 did 
not affect the Group’s consolidated financial statements:  

- IAS 23 (revised) “Borrowing costs”: endorsed by the EU in December 2008. It requires the capitalisation of 
borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of “qualifying assets”;  

- amendment to IAS 27 “Cost of investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates”;  
- IFRS 2 (revised) “Share-based payment”; 
- amendments to IAS 32 “Financial instruments: disclosures” and IAS 1 “Puttable financial instruments and 

obligations arising on liquidation”;  
- amendment to IFRIC 9 “Reassessment of embedded derivatives” and IAS 39 “Financial instruments: 

recognition and measurement”; 
- IFRIC 13 “Customer loyalty programmes”; 
- IFRIC 14 “The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their interaction”. 

The EU-endorsed standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective and have not been applied early 
are as follows: 

- IAS 27 (revised) “Consolidated and separate financial statements” and IFRS 3 (revised) “Business 
combinations”; 

- amendment to IAS 32 “Classification of rights issues”; 
- amendment to IAS 39 “Eligible hedged items”; 
- IFRIC 12 “Service concession arrangements”; 
- IFRIC 15 “Agreements for the construction of real estate”; 
- IFRIC 16 “Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation”; 
- IFRIC 17 “Distributions of non-cash assets to owners”; 
- IFRIC 18 “Transfers of assets from customers”. 

The standards, amendments and interpretations published by the IASB but not yet endorsed by the EU are as follows: 
- IAS 24 (revised) “Related party disclosures”; 
- IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (phase 1: classification and measurement of financial assets); 
- amendment to IFRS 1 “First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”; 
- amendment to IFRS 2 ““Share-based payment”; 
- IFRIC 19 “Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments”; 
- amendment to IFRIC 14 “The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their 

interaction”. 

2 – Critical judgements and accounting estimates 
The consolidated financial statements aare based on the cost model, except for derivatives and available-for-sale 
financial assets held for trading, which are measured at fair value. 
The Euro is the Group’s functional currency. Amounts are expressed in thousands of Euros in both these notes and the 
financial statements schedules if not otherwise stated. 
These consolidated financial statements are presented as follows: 

- assets and liabilities are classified as current or non-current in the statement of financial position. Current 
assets, which include cash and cash equivalents, are those that will be realised, sold or used in the Group’s 
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ordinary operating cycle. Current liabilities are those that will be extinguished within the Group’s ordinary 
operating cycle or in the twelve months after the reporting date; 

- expenses are presented based on their nature in the income statement; 
- the statement of cash flows is presented using the indirect method. 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates 
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, such as amortisation, depreciation and 
provisions, as well as the disclosures about contingent assets and liabilities set out in the notes. These estimates are 
based on the going concern assumption and on available information. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
This is particularly true considering the current financial crisis which may give rise to future situations that are different to 
those currently forecast, with the consequent need to make (significant) adjustments to the relevant carrying amounts 
that cannot presently be foreseen. Assumptions and estimates are particularly critical if referred to the measurement of 
non-current assets, forecasts of future results and cash flows, provisions for litigation and restructuring and obligations 
for pension plans and other long-term benefits. Assumptions and estimates are revised on a regular basis and any 
resulting change immediately affects the financial statements. 

3 - Accounting policies 
The consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2009 have been drawn up using the accounting policies detailed 
below. 

Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. (Parent) and its 
subsidiaries prepared at 31 December of each year, except for  - as permitted by IAS 27 - the subsidiary Espresso 
Service Proximitè, the reporting date of which is 30 September. Subsidiaries are those companies over which the Parent 
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Control is 
generally presumed to exist when the Group holds, directly or indirectly, more than half of the voting rights, including the 
potential voting rights arising from convertible notes. Associates are those companies in which the Group has significant 
influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies. Significant influence is generally presumed to exist 
when the Group holds at least 20% of the voting rights or, if less, it is able to exercise significant influence over the 
financial and operating policies of the company by virtue of specific legal rights, such as, for examples, shareholder 
agreements or other agreements that enable it to exercise significant governance rights. 
The subsidiaries’ financial statements are prepared using the Parent’s accounting policies. Possible consolidation 
adjustments are made to make those captions affected by the adoption of different accounting policies consistent. All 
intragroup balances and transactions, including any unrealised profits arising from intragroup transactions, are 
eliminated in full. Unrealised profits and losses arising from transactions with associates are eliminated to the extent of 
the Group’s share. Unrealised losses are not eliminated, except for impairment losses. Subsidiaries are consolidated as 
from the acquisition date, i.e., the date on which the Group obtains control, up to the date control is transferred outside 
the Group. Non-controlling interests, i.e., the portion of profit or loss and net assets that the Group does not hold, are 
presented separately from the portion attributable to the Group in the income statement and in the statement of financial 
position, under equity. 
Investments in associates are measured using the equity method. Therefore, they are recognised initially at cost, which 
is subsequently adjusted for possible changes in the Group’s share of the associate’s equity. The Group’s share of profit 
or loss of associates is recognised in the relevant income statement caption starting from when the Group exercises 
significant influence up to when it no longer exercises it. 
Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement 
and requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and operating decisions. Interests in joint ventures are 
recognised using proportionate consolidation, whereby the Group’s share of the investee’s assets, liabilities, revenue 
and expenses is recognised in the financial statements line by line. Proportionate consolidation begins when the Group 
obtains joint control and ends when such control ceases. 

Business combinations and goodwill 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method, whereby identifiable assets (including intangible 
assets, which were previously not recognised) and identifiable liabilities (including contingent liabilities but excluding 
future restructurings) are recognised at fair value. 
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is recognised initially at cost and is the excess cost of the business 
combination compared to the acquirer’s share of the acquiree’s net fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and 
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contingent liabilities. After initial recognition, goodwill is not amortised, but is adjusted for accumulated impairment losses 
calculated as described below.  
If a business combination can be recognised initially only provisionally, any adjustments to the provisional amounts are 
recognised within twelve months of the acquisition date. 

The recoverability of goodwill is analysed at least annually, or more frequently should events or changes in conditions 
take place that indicate that impairment losses might exist. 
For impairment testing purposes, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at the acquisition date, to the 
individual cash-generating units (CGUs) or groups of CGUs benefitting from the combination synergies, regardless of 
whether the acquiree’s other assets or liabilities have been allocated to such CGUs or groups of CGUs. 

Impairment losses are identified by considering each CGU’s ability to generate the cash flows necessary to recover the 
portion of goodwill allocated thereto, using the method subsequently detailed in the section on intangible assets. If the 
recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount, goodwill is impaired. These impairment losses cannot be 
reversed should the underlying reasons no longer exist. 

When a previously acquired business (or a portion thereof), from the acquisition of which had led to the recognition of 
goodwill, is sold, the relevant gain or loss on disposal is recognised in profit or loss considering the relevant residual 
value of goodwill. 

Upon IFRS first-time adoption, the Group opted not to apply IFRS 3 “Business combinations” retroactively to those 
acquisitions that occurred prior to 1 January 2007. Accordingly, goodwill that arose before the IFRS transition date has 
been maintained at the carrying amount it had under Italian GAAP, after having been tested for impairment and possibly 
impaired. 

As the subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. had already presented IFRS-compliant consolidated financial statements at 31 
December 2008, pursuant to IFRS 1.D17, its assets and liabilities have been consolidated using the relevant carrying 
amounts shown at 1 January 2008 and 31 December 2008. 

Acquisitions or sales of non-controlling interests that have not entailed acquisition or loss of control for the Group are 
accounted for under the entity concept method, whereby the difference between the price paid and the acquired net 
assets’ proportionate carrying amount is recognised directly in equity. 

Translation of foreign currency captions and financial statements 
All group companies present their financial statements in Euros.  

Translation of foreign currency captions 
Foreign currency transactions are translated initially using the exchange rate at the transaction date. At the reporting 
date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are retranslated using the closing rate. Any 
resulting exchange rate gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currency and measured at cost are translated at the transaction date rate, while those carried at fair value are 
translated at the exchange rate in force when fair value is measured. 

Intangible assets 
Separately acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at cost. Those acquired through a business combination 
are recognised at the acquisition date fair value. After initial recognition, they are measured at cost, net of accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Except for development expenditure, internally-developed 
intangible assets are not capitalised, but are immediately recognised in profit or loss. Intangible assets may have a finite 
or indefinite useful life. 
Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortised over their useful life and are tested for impairment whenever an 
indication of impairment emerges. The amortisation period and method are reviewed at each annual reporting date, or 
more frequently if necessary. Changes to their expected useful life and to the way in which they are expected to produce 
future economic benefits are recognised by adjusting the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated 
as changes in accounting estimates. 

The gains or losses arising from their sale are measured as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and 
the asset’s carrying amount and are recognised in profit or loss upon disposal. 

Other intangible assets 
The other intangible assets with a finite useful life recognised as a result of a business combination (e.g., customer 
base) are recognised initially at the acquisition date fair value, separately from goodwill. They are subsequently carried 
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net of accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses determined as detailed later on for property, 
plant and equipment. 
Such intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life, which 
is reviewed annually. Any required changes are recognised prospectively. 
 
The gains or losses arising from their sale are measured as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and 
the asset’s carrying amount and are recognised in profit or loss upon derecognition. 

Research and development expenses 
Research expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.  
Development expenses incurred in relation to a specific project are capitalised only when the Group can demonstrate 
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to 
complete the intangible asset and use or sell it, how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits, 
the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and its ability to 
measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 
Intangible assets arising from development are amortised over the period during which the cash flows expected from the 
project will flow to the Group. 
During the development period, the asset is tested for impairment annually. After initial recognition, development 
expenses are measured at cost, adjusted for accumulated amortisation or impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset 
begins when the development phase has been completed and the asset is available for use.  
All other development expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. 

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost, including any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management, increased by the present 
value of the estimated costs of dismantling and removing the item, if significant and if the Group has a present obligation 
for dismantling and removing it. If an item has significant parts with different useful lives, such parts are recognised 
separately. Land, either associated or not associated with buildings, is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life. 

Assets revalued in periods prior to 1 January 2007 are recognised on the basis of their fair value at the transition date, 
which is considered their deemed cost as from that date. 

Property, plant and equipment are recognised net of accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses 
calculated as detailed later on. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s estimated useful life, 
which is reviewed annually. Any required changes are recognised prospectively.  

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is tested for impairment when events or changes in conditions 
take place that indicate that it may not be recovered. When there are such indications and the carrying amount exceeds 
the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are impaired to that amount, which, for items of property, plant and 
equipment, is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss in the caption “Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses”. 
They are reversed if the underlying reasons no longer exist. 

On disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use, an item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised and any gain or loss (i.e., the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
item) is recognised in profit or loss when the item is derecognised. 

The asset’s residual value, useful life and applied methods are reviewed annually and adjusted, where necessary, at the 
reporting date. 

Leases 
At the commencement of the lease term, finance leases that substantially transfer all risks and rewards of ownership of 
the leased asset to the Group are recognised as assets at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, 
the present value of the minimum lease payments. Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance 
charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability, so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. 
Depreciation and subsequent measurement follow the same rules as those for owned property, plant and equipment. 
A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.  
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Investment property 
Investment property is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production 
or supply of goods or services. It is recognised initially at cost, including directly attributable transaction costs and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Financial assets 
All financial assets are recognised initially at cost at the transaction date, which equals their fair value increased by 
transaction costs. 
After initial recognition, financial assets held for trading are classified as current assets and measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. 
Held-to-maturity investments are classified as current assets if their maturity is within one year and as non-current assets 
if it is after one year. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost, which is determined using the effective interest 
method, taking into account any discounts or premiums at acquisition that are allocated over the life of the asset. Any 
impairment losses decrease amortised cost.  
The other financial assets are classified as available for sale and measured at fair value. The resulting fair value gains or 
losses are recognised in a specific equity caption until the assets are sold, recovered, discontinued, or impaired, in which 
case the accumulated gains or losses are removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. If there is no active 
market for an equity instrument and its fair value cannot be measured reliably, it is carried at cost. 

Impairment losses on financial assets 

At each annual or interim reporting date, the Group assess whether financial assets or groups of financial assets are 
impaired.  

Financial assets carried at amortised cost 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

The Group firstly assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 
individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If no 
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the Group 
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for 
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be 
recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.  

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to 
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss may be reversed. 
The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the financial asset 
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment loss not been recognised at the date it is 
reversed. 

Financial assets carried at cost  

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an unlisted equity instrument that is not 
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be measured reliably, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must 
be settled by delivery of such an unlisted equity instrument, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. 

Available-for-sale financial assets  

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in equity 
to profit or loss. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to profit or loss is the difference between the 
acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss 
recognised previously in profit or loss. Any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity 
instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired 
available-for-sale debt instrument increases and the increase can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised, then the impairment loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognised in 
profit or loss. 
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Inventories 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories comprises all costs 
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition and takes into account any write-downs due to 
obsolescence or slow-moving items. 
The cost of acquired finished products and goods is determined using the FIFO method. 
Considering the services provided by the Group, the consolidated financial statements do not include raw materials or 
semi-finished products.  

Trade receivables and other assets 
Trade receivables and other assets are measured at their nominal amount, net of the allowance for impairment. 
Impairment losses are recognised when identified. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, bank accounts and other treasury investments with an original maturity not 
exceeding three months.  
Cash and cash equivalents presented in the statement of cash flows are the same as those in the statement of financial 
position. 

Employee benefits 
The group companies have in place pension plans, post-employment benefit plans for health assistance and post-
employment benefits.  

Defined contribution plans 
Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a 
separate insurance company or pension fund and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if 
the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior 
periods. 
These contributions, paid in exchange for the employees’ services, are accounted for as an expense on an accruals 
basis. 

Defined benefit plans 
Defined benefit plans are arrangements whereby the Group provides post-employment benefits and has a future 
obligation to pay. Actuarial risk and investment risk fall, in substance, on the Group. As required by IAS 19, the Group 
determines the present value of the defined benefit obligation and the current service cost using the projected unit credit 
method. This actuarial calculation requires the use of unbiased and mutually compatible actuarial assumptions about 
demographic (mortality and rates of employee turnover) and financial (discount rate, future salary and benefit levels and 
medical benefits) variables. 
The Italian post-employment benefit (TFR) is considered as a defined benefit plan.  

Actuarial gains and losses 
Actuarial gains and losses relating to defined benefit plans may arise from changes in the actuarial assumptions from 
one reporting period to the following, increases or decreases in either the present value of a defined benefit obligation or 
the fair value of any related plan assets.  
Actuarial gains and losses relating to other long-term benefits and termination benefits are recognised immediately in 
profit or loss. 

Past service cost 
Increases in the liabilities resulting from changes to an existing defined benefit plan are recognised as a an expense on 
a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. To the extent that the benefits are already 
vested immediately following the changes, the past service cost is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

Curtailments and settlements 
The Group recognises gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan when the curtailment or 
settlement occurs. The gain or loss on a curtailment or settlement comprises any resulting change in the present value 
of the defined benefit obligation, any resulting change in the fair value of the plan assets, any related actuarial gains and 
losses and past service cost that had not previously been recognised. 
At the date of the curtailment or settlement, the Group remeasures the obligation and the related plan assets using 
current actuarial assumptions.  

Financial liabilities 
Trade payables and other liabilities 
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Trade payables with maturities within ordinary trading terms are not discounted and are recognised at cost (which equals 
their nominal amount), representing their fair value at the reporting date. 
Other liabilities, either current or non-current, are recognised initially at cost, which equals their fair value, less 
transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of the liability. After initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Loan liabilities 
All loan liabilities are recognised initially at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. After 
initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss when the liability is extinguished, in addition to through the amortisation process. 

Derivatives 
The group companies use derivatives, such as interest rate swaps, to hedge interest rate risks. They are recognised 
initially at their fair value at the agreement date, which is subsequently remeasured on a regular basis. They are 
presented as assets or liabilities depending on whether their fair value is positive or negative. In accordance with IAS 39, 
hedging derivatives are recognised using hedge accounting only if:  
a) at the inception of the hedge, there is formal designation and documentation of the hedging relationship; 
b) the hedge is expected to be highly effective;  
c) the effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured;  
d) the hedge is determined to have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which it was 
designated. 
When derivatives hedge the exposure to changes in fair value of an hedged item (fair value hedges, such as hedges of 
changes in the fair value of fixed rate assets/liabilities), they are recognised at fair value and any changes are 
recognised in profit or loss. Similarly, the gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk adjusts the 
carrying amount of the hedged item. 
When derivatives hedge the exposure to variability in cash flows of an hedged item (cash flow hedges, such as hedges 
of variability in cash flows of variable rate assets/liabilities due to fluctuations in the interest rates), the fair value gain or 
loss on the hedging instrument is initially recognised in equity and then reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged 
item affects profit or loss. Fair value gains or losses that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss. 

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, part of a financial asset or parts of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised when: 

• the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; 

• the Group retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset, but assumes a contractual 
obligation to fully pay the cash flows to a third party without delay;  

• the Group transfers the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset and (a) transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, but has not retained control. 

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred asset, and 
retains control of the transferred asset, it continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing 
involvement. When the Group’s continuing involvement takes the form of guaranteeing the transferred asset, the extent 
of the Group’s continuing involvement is the lower of the amount of the asset and the maximum amount of the 
consideration received that the Group could be required to repay. 
When the Group’s continuing involvement takes the form of a written or purchased option on the transferred asset 
(including cash-settled or similar options), the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is the amount of the 
transferred asset that the Group may repurchase. However, in the case of a written put option on an asset that is 
measured at fair value (including cash-settled or similar options), the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is 
limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price. 

Financial liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
An exchange between an existing borrower and lender of debt instruments with substantially different terms or a 
substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability are accounted for as an extinguishment of the 
original financial liability and a new financial liability is recognised. Any difference between the carrying amounts is 
recognised in profit or loss. 
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Provisions for risks and charges 
Provisions for risks and charges relate to known costs or losses that are certain or probable but whose amount or due 
date is unknown at the reporting date. A provision is recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where some or all 
of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, for example when risks 
are covered by insurance policies, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset when, and only when, it is 
virtually certain. In this case, in the income statement, the expense relating to a provision may be presented net of the 
amount recognised for the reimbursement. 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation or transfer 
it to a third party at the reporting date. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of a provision 
is the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The discount rate is a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. Where 
discounting is used, the carrying amount of a provision increases in each period to reflect the passage of time. This 
increase is recognised as borrowing cost. 

Revenue and expenses 
Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and these benefits can be 
measured reliably. It is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account any 
trade discounts and volume rebates allowed by the Group. 
Revenue from sales of products through automated vending machines is usually recognised when the products are 
purchased by the customer, which is when the goods are delivered and consideration is collected. 
Revenue from invoiced sales is recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have been transferred 
to the buyer.  

Interest 
Interest income and expense are recognised on an accruals basis on the carrying amount of the relevant financial assets 
and liabilities using the effective interest method (that is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset). 

Dividends 
Dividends are recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established. 

Income taxes 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from/paid to the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period. 
Current tax that relates to items that are recognised directly in equity are recognised directly in equity. 
Deferred tax liabilities are calculated applying the liability method to the temporary differences between the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities and their tax bases at the reporting date. 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

• to the extent that the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction which is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting 
profit nor taxable profit (tax loss); 

• for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates and interests in 
joint ventures, when the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and the carryforward of unused tax losses to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference or 
unused tax losses can be utilised, except when: 

• the deferred tax asset arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax 
loss);  

• for deductible differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates and interests in joint 
ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised solely to the extent that it is probable that the temporary difference 
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will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference 
can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the benefit of part or all of that deferred 
tax asset to be utilised. At the end of each reporting period, the Group reassesses unrecognised deferred tax assets and 
recognises a previously unrecognised deferred tax asset to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities relating to transactions recognised directly in equity are recognised directly in equity 
and not in profit or loss. 
The group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes 
levied by the same tax authority. 

Consolidation scope 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the separate financial statements of the Parent, IVS GROUP HOLDING 
S.p.A., and the Italian and foreign companies over which it exercises, either directly or indirectly (through its subsidiaries 
and associates), control, governing their financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities. 
The following table lists the companies in which the Parent directly or indirectly holds an investment, indicating how they 
are treated in the consolidated financial statements.  

Name Parent Investment % Reference % Treatment 

IVS Italia S.p.A. IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. 100% 100% Consolidated 

Vending System S.p.A. IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. 100% 100% Consolidated 

O.D.A. S.r.l. IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. 100% 100% Consolidated 

Italdrink S.r.l. IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. 100% 100% Consolidated 

Ivan Caffè S.r.l. Vending System S.p.A. 100% 100% Consolidated 

Eurovending S.r.l. IVS Italia S.p.A. 80% 80% Consolidated 

DDS S.p.A. IVS Italia S.p.A. 71% 71% Consolidated 

Emmedi S.A. IVS Italia S.p.A. 70% 70% Consolidated 

Dav S.A. IVS Italia S.p.A. 78% 78% Consolidated 

Eur Coffee S.r.l. IVS Italia S.p.A. 70% 70% Consolidated 

Nuovasellmatic S.r.l. IVS Italia S.p.A. 93% 93% Not consolidated 

Ivs Serida S.r.l. IVS Italia S.p.A. 80% 80% Consolidated 

E.V.S. S.r.l. IVS Italia S.p.A. 90% 90% Consolidated 

IVS France SAS IVS Italia S.p.A. 87% 87% Consolidated 

Food System S.r.l. IVS Italia S.p.A. 100% 100% Consolidated 

Ciesse Caffè S.r.l. IVS Italia S.p.A. 20% 20% Equity-accounted 

Ristora System S.r.l. IVS Italia S.p.A. 30% 30% Equity-accounted 

Universo Vending S.r.l. IVS Italia S.p.A. 25% 25% Equity-accounted 

Cofradis SAS IVS France SAS 100% 87% Consolidated 

Parodis SAS IVS France SAS 100% 87% Consolidated 

Cofdar SAS IVS France SAS 100% 87% Consolidated 

Mega SAS IVS France SAS 95% 82.60% Consolidated 

Sci Azzurra SAS IVS France SAS 99% 86.10% Consolidated 

Sci Azzurra SAS Cofradis SAS 1% 0.90% Consolidated 

Sci Dca SAS IVS France SAS 99.20% 86.10% Consolidated 

Sci Dca SAS Cofradis SAS 0.80% 0.70% Consolidated 
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Name Parent Investment % Reference % Treatment 

Caybe 2 Sl Dav S.A. 72.50% 56.60% Not consolidated 

Maquinas Automaticas Blasco SA Emmedi S.A. 100.00% 70% Not consolidated 

Rital Caffè SAS Cofradis SAS 100.00% 87% Consolidated 

Cofradis Sud Sarl Cofradis SAS 50.00% 43.50% Not consolidated 

Sci +39 IVS France SAS 99% 86.10% Consolidated 

Sci +39 Cofradis SAS 1% 0.90% Consolidated 

Time Vending S.r.l. IVS Italia S.p.A. 50% 50% Proportionally consolidated 

Espresso Service Proximitè Parodis SAS 22% 22% Equity-accounted 

Espresso Service Proximitè IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. 14.8% 15% Equity-accounted 

 

Companies that are not consolidated are dormant. The carrying amounts of their investments in the financial statements 
of the relevant parents totals €29 thousand. 

The main changes in the consolidation scope with respect to 31 December 2008 are as follows: 
- IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. acquired the entire share capital of Vending System Italia S.p.A. (which, in turns, 

wholly owns Ivan Caffè S.r.l.), O.D.A. S.r.l. and Italdrink S.r.l. during the year; 
- Chicco Vending S.r.l., Bevo e Mangio S.r.l. and Orizzonte 2000 S.r.l. were merged into IVS Italia S.p.A. with 

accounting and tax effect from 1 January 2009. They were previously wholly owned and consolidated; 
- Coffee System S.p.A. was merged into DDS S.p.A with effect from 1 January 2009. IVS Italia S.p.A.’s 

investment in DDS has therefore increased from 51% to 71% due to the merger; 
- Dav S.A. sold Spanish-based Bymatic to third parties during the year, while Parodis S.a.s. sold its investment in 

Plus S.a.s. to Espresso Service Proximitè SA. The latter is 22.1% held by Parodis S.a.s. and 14.8% held by the 
Parent, IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A..  

 

Notes to the main captions of the statement of financial position 

4 - Intangible assets and goodwill 

The following table shows variations in historical cost and accumulated amortisation of intangible assets in 2009: 

 
 (€’000)     Research, 

development and 
advertising costs 

Industrial 
patents 

and  

Concessions
, licences, 

Customer list Assets 
under 

development 

Other Total 

  intellectua
l property 

rights 

trademarks 
and similar 

rights 

   

Carrying amount at 31 December 2008                                  -   
             

340                 108  
                 

8,875  
                 

177  
             

3,175  
            

12,675  
Additions/change in consolidation 

scope 
                                 

32  
             

878                 210  
                 

1,398  
 

                  
45               2,563  

Sales/change in consolidation scope                                  -                  -                    -                        -                      -                     -                     -   

Amortisation 
                                  

6  
-            

465  -                92  
-                

1,561  
 

-               
198  -            2,321  

Reclassifications 
   

                 
2,731  

-                
177  

-            
2,620  -                 66  

Carrying amount at 31 December 2009 
                                 

26  
             

753                 226  
               

11,444                     -   
                

402  
            

12,851  

 
 
The caption “Customer list” includes a carrying amount of €1,180 thousand at the reporting date arising from the 
business combinations carried out during the year (described in more detail later). “Reclassifications” to the prior year 
captions. 

The following table shows variations in goodwill at 31 December 2009 compared to the previous year: 
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 (€’000) 
Carrying 
amount 

At 31 December 2008 259,320 

Additions/change in consolidation scope 27,509 

Sales/decreases -               209  

Impairment losses -            1,733  

Reclassifications -               267  

At 31 December 2009 284,620 

 
The change in this caption is mainly due to the following non-recurring transactions: 

- acquisition by IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. of the following investments: 
o  Vending System S.p.A. (goodwill of €18,736 thousand recognised in the separate financial 

statements);  
o Ivan Caffè S.r.l. (goodwill arising on consolidation of €1,512 thousand);  
o O.D.A. S.r.l. (goodwill arising on consolidation of €1,684 thousand); 
o Italdrink S.r.l. (goodwill arising on consolidation of €3,437 thousand and goodwill of €28 thousand 

recognised in the separate financial statements); 

• acquisition by IVS Italia S.p.A. of business units (Easy Coffee, Caffè Service, Centro Servizi Guzzardi, LC 
Distribuzione and Service Matic) (€672 thousand); 

• acquisition by IVS Italia S.p.A. of 50% of Time Vending S.r.l. (€846 thousand);  

• acquisition by Eurovending S.p.A. of a business unit (€397 thousand); 

• acquisition by Parodis of a business unit (€146 thousand); 

• decrease due to the adjustment to the acquisition cost for Coffe System S.p.A. (€794 thousand);  

• decrease due to the contribution of the investment in Plus Sas by Parodis to Espresso Service Proximitè (€209 
thousand); 

• decrease due to the adjustment to the acquisition cost for Food System S.p.A. (€940 thousand). 

The Group recognised and measured the goodwill arising on the above-mentioned transactions pursuant to IFRS 3 
which requires application of the acquisition method. The acquisition cost is allocated to the acquired assets and 
liabilities based on their fair value using the Purchase Price Allocation (PPA) method, under which any excess cost 
compared to the acquiree’s equity is recognised as goodwill under intangible assets in the buyer’s financial statements. 
IFRS 3 also requires that such goodwill cannot be amortised systematically but is tested for impairment once a year. 
As the merger of Chicco Vending, Bevo & Mangio and Orizzonte 2009 qualifies as a business reorganisation as they 
were already wholly owned by IVS Italia S.p.A., the carrying amounts in the 2009 consolidated financial statements are 
recognised in line with the carrying amounts in the 2008 financial statements. The following table summarises the 
changes arising from the above-mentioned transactions:  
 

Transaction  Goodwill Customer list 

Acquisition of business units by IVS Italia 672 104 

Acquisition of business units by Eurovending  397 56 

Acquisition of business units by Parodis 146 20 

Acquisition of investment in Time Vending 846                 118  

Acquisition of investment in O.D.A.              1,684                  235  

Acquisition of investment in Italdrink              3,465                  479  

Acquisition of investment in Vending System             18,736                    25  

Acquisition of investment in Ivan Caffè              1,512                  211  

Contribution of Plus to ESP -209                   -   

Merger of Coffee System into DDS -794 -                 67  

Price adjustment for Food System S.r.l. -940                   -   

Other transactions, including reclassifications -216                   -   
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Total 25,299 1,180 

 
Captions “Industrial patents and intellectual property rights” and “Concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights” 
mainly consist of costs incurred by IVS Italia S.p.A. to roll out the Navision business management software, which will 
become the Group’s sole IT system. The software is amortised on a straight-line basis over three years.  

Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each CGU: 
IAS 36 requires that goodwill recognised as a result of a business combination be allocated to each of the CGU 
benefiting from the combination synergies, regardless of which CGU or group of CGUs the assets and liabilities of the 
acquiree are allocated to (a CGU is the smallest group of assets which generates cash flows that are largely 
independent of those generated by other assets and can be used to calculate value in use). 
Management identified three separate CGUs for the IVS Group in 2008, based on its geographical segments (Italy, 
France and Spain). 
During 2009, management introduced a procurement flow integration and management policy, with greater resort to 
recharging costs and reallocation of operating profits among the different geographical segments given the increasing 
interchangeability of systems used to sell and purchase goods. The Group continued this policy into early 2010 which 
affected other internal functions such as IT, information flows and controls, with the result that flows from the different 
geographical segments cannot be considered independent. Therefore, it was deemed more appropriate to identify two 
CGUs, one for the entire consolidation scope of IVS Italia S.p.A. and the other for the remaining companies controlled by 
IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. based on the Group’s current production, commercial and administrative structure. 

For the annual impairment test purposes, goodwill acquired in business combinations was allocated to one of the two 
CGUs, carrying out the related impairment tests required by IAS 36 based on the carrying amounts and cash flows of the 
“IVS Italia consolidated” and “Other group companies” CGUs. 
That being said and specifically in 2009, the Italian companies acquired several business units, generating total goodwill 
of €26,466 thousand. This was countered by the negative effect of the adjustment to the acquisition cost for the 
investment in Food System S.p.A. (€940 thousand) and Coffe System S.p.A. (€794 thousand). 
During 2009, the French subsidiaries also acquired business units, generating total goodwill of €197 thousand offset by 
the negative effect of the contribution of Plus to ESP (€209 thousand) and reclassifications to other intangible assets 
(€267 thousand). 
The recoverable amounts of the two CGUs were determined considering their value in use. The Group used the 
projected cash flows included in the 2010-2012 business plan to calculate the value in use of the IVS Italia consolidated 
CGU and extrapolated the cash flows after three years in perpetuity assuming cash flows in line with those of the 
business plan’s third year. Specifically, these flows were the sum of: (i) adjusted forecast NOPLAT (net operating profit 
less adjusted taxes) for 2012 (adjusted considering the Group’s scheduled depreciation plan); (ii) investments equal to 
the maintenance amortisation. No changes in working capital were foreseen in the calculation of the terminal value. The 
resulting cash flow was projected to grow by factor g equal to 1%.  
The 5.8% discount rate applied to the projected cash flows is shown in the following table and was calculated using the 
expected average indebtedness. 

The main indicators used for impairment testing are as follows: 

 
WACC components IVS Group 

Risk free rate 4.14% 

Market risk premium 5.4% 

Unlevered Beta 0.32 

Cost of equity 6.6% 

Cost of debt 5.89% 

Tax effect 27.50% 

Cost of debt after tax 4.3% 

Weight D/(D+E) 37% 

Weight E/(D+E) 63% 

WACC 5.8% 
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The yield rate for 10-year government bonds at the start date of the business plan was used as the risk free rate. 
An unlevered Beta of 0.32 was used, recalculated considering a leverage effect based on the sector’s average 
debt/equity ratio. 
The business plan assumptions include an increase in turnover over the three years from 2010 to 2012 in line with 
previous years and an upturn in gross operating profit compared to the 2009 actual figure. Operating costs are expected 
to increase in line with the Group’s forecast growth. 
 
The recoverable amount of the Other group companies CGU is the sum of the enterprise value of the investments held 
by IVS GROUP HOLDING, calculated using technical multiples. As the business units are all leased to IVS Italia S.p.A., 
the related value in use was calculated by determining the number of monthly vends per machine leased to IVS Italia 
S.p.A. which was multiplied by a technical factor per vends/month. This is a generally accepted method for calculating 
sales prices in the vending sector. 
 
Application of these valuation methods led to a positive difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying 
amount 

Sensitivity analysis 
The Group performed a sensitivity analysis of the estimated recoverable amount using the discounted cash flow method, 
considering the current and forecast reference economic context and the results of the impairment tests for 2009. The 
discount rate and technical factor are decisive when estimating fair value and a 1% increase in this rate and a 20% 
decrease in this factor would not create an excessive difference between the carrying amounts and recoverable amounts 
of the two CUGs. 

As a result of the above analysis, the Group did not deem it necessary to change the amounts presented in the financial 
statements. 

Business combinations 
The main business combinations that took place during the year related to: 

- the Parent’s acquisition of Vending System S.p.A., Ivan Caffè S.r.l., Italdrink S.r.l., ODA S.r.l. and 14.8% of 
Espresso Service Proximitè;   

- IVS Italia’s acquisition of several business units and 50% of Time Vending; 
- Eurovending’s acquisition of a business unit. 
 

These transactions had the following effects on the consolidated financial statements: 
 
(€’000) 

IVS Italy’s acquisition of business units Eurovending’s acquisition of business unit Parent’s acquisition of investments 

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value 

Net non-current assets                   503             558                      78              143               12,481         13,508  

Discontinued operations 
    

               3,030           3,030  

Current assets                     99               99                     -                       -                   8,624           8,624  

Non-current liabilities -                 500  -          500                     -                       -    -            33,652  -     33,975  

Current liabilities -                 341  -          341                     -                       -    -              7,821  -       7,821  

Goodwill                   235             810                    462              397               18,736         25,369  

Expense recognised in equity                    -               171                     -                       -                         -    -   

Total -                     4             797                    540              540                 1,398           8,736  

 
Cash outflows for the above investments came to €1,948 thousand for the year, including €852 thousand spent by IVS 
Italia S.p.A. and €540 thousand by Eurovending. 

5 - Property, plant and equipment 
The following tables show changes in historical cost and accumulated depreciation and the carrying amounts of 
property, plant and equipment and investment property in 2009: 
 
(€’000) 

Land and 
buildings 

Plant and 
machinery 

Industrial and 
commercial 
equipment 

Other assets 

Assets under 
construction 

and payments 
on account 

Leased 
assets 

TOTAL 
Leased 

buildings 
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Carrying amount at 31 December 2008                6,961                  1,821                  87,826                 12,755                       643           26,840  136,846 1,208 

Additions                    14                     222                  28,497                   4,061  
 

           2,094  34,888 

Sales                     -                        -   -                2,435  -                   441  
  

-2,877 

Depreciation -                 926  -                  370  -               25,374  -                5,033  
 

-          2,459  -34,162 
-39 

Change in consolidation scope                    41                     145                   6,045                       75  
 

           4,239  10,545 

Reclassifications 
 

-                  641  -               10,813                      445  -                      19           11,029  1 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2009 6,090 1,177 83,746 11,861 624 41,744 145,242 1,169 

 
2009 capital expenditure mainly involved industrial and commercial equipment, in which category all purchases of 
automated vending machines are classified. This expenditure is part of the Group’s normal renewal of its machines, an 
increase in its business and part of the vending activity. 
The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment under finance lease or rented, under leases that qualify as finance 
leases as per IFRS, is €41,744 thousand. Such assets are mainly property, industrial and commercial equipment and 
other assets. “Other assets” include vehicles, cars, office electronic equipment and furnishings and fittings.  
 
The useful lives of the Group’s main items of property, plant and equipment are: 
-Buildings: 33 years 
-Industrial and commercial equipment: 6-7 years 
-Cars and vehicles: 4-5 years 

6 - Equity-accounted investments 
In addition to loans and receivables with related parties (principally the Parent’s loan of €1,000 thousand to Immobiliare 
Vending), this caption includes the Group’s share of equity (including goodwill) of the equity-accounted investees. The 
following table provides a list of the main investments: 
 

 (€’000) 

Investment value Share or profit (loss) 

31/12/2009 31/12/2008 31/12/2009 31/12/2008 

Ciesse Caffè S.r.l.                   20                    20  -                 24                    23  

Ristora System S.r.l.              2,397               2,397                    31  -                 24  

Universo Vending S.r.l.                 200                  200                    47                    86  

Espresso Service Proximitè                 2,171                    -                     28                    -   

Total              4,788               2,617                    82                    85  

 
These investments are of a long-term and strategic nature. When an associate has finished its useful life, is no longer 
active and will be wound up, it is excluded from the consolidation scope and the related investment therein is impaired 
using the methods described earlier.  
The following table gives details of the main equity-accounted investees’ financial highlights: 
 

 (€’000) 

Total assets Revenue Profit (loss) 

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 

Ciesse Caffè S.r.l.              1,426               1,638               2,436               2,618  -                 22                  114  

Ristora System S.r.l.              2,313               2,247                    70                    82                  104  -                 79  

Universovending S.r.l.              5,243               5,706              11,409              14,430                  189                  342  

Espresso Service Proximitè             13,894              12,363              24,636              22,901               1,556               1,826  

Total             22,876              21,954              38,551              40,031               1,827               2,203  

 
The caption also includes the investments in the unconsolidated companies Nuova Sellmatic S.r.l. in liquidation and 
Cofradis Sud Sarl measured at cost (€29 thousand). 
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7 – Other non-current assets 
This caption includes: 
 

(€’000) 31/12/2009 31/12/2008 Variation 

Non-current securities 0 64       -  

Non-current loans and receivables 221 205 16 

Total 221 269 16 

 
The non-current loans and receivables mainly consist of guarantee deposits. 

8 - Inventories 
The following table shows inventories at 31 December 2009 and 2008: 
 

(€’000) 31/12/2009 31/12/2008 Variation 

Raw materials, supplies and consumables 46                   -   46 

Work in progress, semi-finished products              -                -  0 

Finished goods 15,323 22,164 -            6,841  

Total 15,369 22,164 -            6,795  

 
The closing balance mainly consists of food products, different models of automated vending machine, spare parts for 
the machines and, to a lesser degree, sundry materials such as work clothing and sundry accessories. No provision for 
inventory write-down has been made as the obsolescence risk is zero, given the high turnover rate of the goods and 
ongoing monitoring of the shelf life of products in the warehouse as per the Group’s plan which complies with HACCP 
requirements. 
The elimination of intragroup margins on inventories at the reporting date amounts to €19 thousand. 
The considerable decrease on 31 December 2008 is due to unification of the automated vending machine management 
system, VEGAtm, integrated with ERP Microsoft Navision Dynamicstm, and optimisation of the Group’s synergies. This 
led to improved goods procurement and management policies, regulating the procedure for purchasing goods by the 
warehouses based on defined stock levels for each branch/warehouse/purchase unit. 

9 - Trade receivables 
The following table gives a breakdown of trade receivables and the related allowance for impairment at 31 December 
2009 and 2008: 
 

 (€’000) 31/12/2009 31/12/2008 Variation 

Customers 10,789 11,512 -723 

Associates 304 81 223 

Allowance for impairment -            1,180  -               812  -368 

Total 9,913 10,781 -868 

 
The group companies do not have significant risk concentration at the reporting date. Trade receivables, due within one 
year, do not usually bear interest and are generally paid after 30/60 days. 
They are shown net of the allowance for impairment of €1,180 thousand. The group companies make annual accruals, 
identifying the receivables to be impaired on an individual basis. 
The following table gives a breakdown of trade receivables by due date at the reporting date: 
 

Trade receivables 31/12/2009 % 31/12/2008 % 

Not yet due                 5,795  54% 4,298 37% 

Overdue by 0 to 30 days                    504  5% 944 8% 

Overdue by 30 to 60 days                    632  6% 833 7% 
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Overdue by 61 to 90 days                    302  3% 415 4% 

Overdue by more than 91 days                 3,556  33% 5,022 44% 

Total               10,789  100% 11,512 100% 

10 – Tax assets and liabilities 
Tax assets are amounts due to the group companies by the tax authorities of the countries in which they reside for direct 
taxes which should be recovered in a reasonable timeframe. They amount to €1,505 thousand at the reporting date (31 
December 2008: €765 thousand).  
Tax liabilities relate to unpaid current taxes for the year due by the group companies to tax authorities. They are 
calculated using the rates enacted in the different countries in which the companies reside and amount to €858 thousand 
at the reporting date (31 December 2008: €1,405 thousand).  

11 - Other current assets 
The following table shows other current assets at 31 December 2009 and 2008: 
 

 (€’000) 31/12/2009 31/12/2008 Variation 

Receivables from others due within one year 2,500 6,088 -3,588 

Other current securities 21 21 0 

Accrued income 0 7 -7 

Prepayments 1,999 1,900 99 

Tax assets unrelated to income taxes 16,109 14,894 1,215 

Total 22,270 22,910 -2,281 

 
Receivables from others mainly relate to guarantee deposits and advances to suppliers.  
Prepayments and accrued income refer to costs incurred in advance, such as bank fees, maintenance instalments, 
utilities, sundry services, insurance, lease, automated vending machine location and slotting fees, etc..  
Tax assets unrelated to income taxes mostly consist of VAT assets which do not bear interest until their reimbursement 
has been formally claimed. They are usually settled on a quarterly basis with the relevant tax authorities. 

12 - Cash and cash equivalents 
The following table shows cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2009 and 2008: 
 

 (€’000) 31/12/2009 31/12/2008 Variation 

Bank and postal accounts 5,487 8,073 -2,586 

Cash-in-hand and cash equivalents 6,286 6,620 -334 

Total 11,773 14,693 -2,920 

 
Bank deposits are mainly available on sight and bear interest at floating rates. Cash comprises cash collected on the 
sale of food and beverages at the automated vending machines that has not been lodged with banks and is held by the 
group companies at the reporting date.  

13 – Net financial indebtedness 
The Group’s net financial indebtedness at 31 December 2009 and 2008 is as follows: 
 

 (€’000) 31/12/2009 31/12/2008 

Securities 21 21 

Cash and cash equivalents 11,773 14,693 

Cash and current financial assets 11,794 14,714 

Current loan liabilities 48,008 202,948 

Derivatives               1,974  717 
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Current financial indebtedness 49,982 203,665 

Non-current loan liabilities 191,247 27,477 

Bonds 126,056 123,581 

Shareholders’ loans 755 1,496 

Non-current financial indebtedness 318,058 152,554 

Net financial indebtedness 356,246 341,505 

 
The Group’s net financial indebtedness of €356,246 thousand at the reporting date is mainly due to: 

- the bonds issued by the Parent of €126 million at 31 December 2009; 
- the bank loan taken out by IVS Italia S.p.A. in 2008 for an original principal of €200 million which has an 

outstanding balance of €168.9 million at 31 December 2009; 
- the BNL loan of €21 million agreed by Vending System Italia S.p.A.;  
- the €13.5 million liability to West Control S.A., the financial company controlled by the shareholder West Group 

Participation S.A.; 
- finance leases and loans of €11.2 million agreed to purchase equipment by group companies; 
- bank loans and borrowings of €10.8 million for credit facilities. 

 
The large variation in current and non-current indebtedness is due to the reclassification of the syndicated loan to current 
in 2008 which was then reclassified back to non-current in 2009 when the banks issued the related waiver.  

14 – Equity 
The Parent’s fully subscribed and paid up share capital at the reporting date consists of 4,266,800 ordinary shares 
without a nominal amount. It has not issued warrants or other related rights. All the shares of IVS Italia S.p.A. are 
pledged to guarantee its bank loan.  
The following table shows the equity items and their origin: 
 

(€’000) 
Carrying 
amount 

Share capital 64,002 

Share premium reserve 2,498 

Legal reserve 601 

Statutory reserve 277 

FTA reserve 562 

Hedging reserve -929 

Other reserves -1,780 

Capital injections for future capital increase 5,090 

Losses carried forward -24,443 

Profit for the year 37 

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS 
OF THE PARENT 45,917 
Share capital and reserves attributable to non-
controlling interests  4,639 
Profit for the year attributable to non-
controlling interests 317 

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS 4,956 

Total share capital and reserves 50,516 

Total profit for the year 354 

TOTAL EQUITY 50,870 

 
Reference should be made to the statement of changes in equity for more information about the equity items.  
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Equity attributable to non-controlling interests of €4,956 thousand increased by €658 thousand over 31 December 2008. 
The profit for the year attributable to non-controlling interests of €317 thousand is substantially unchanged from that for 
2008 at €320 thousand. 
 
As described in note 18, the Group agreed new interest rate derivatives in 2009 to mitigate the risk of fluctuations in 
interest rates. As they qualify for hedge accounting under IAS 39, the hedging reserve was reinstated with a balance 
equal to the fair value gains or losses on derivatives at the reporting date, based on the fair values estimated by the 
banks (loss of €929 thousand). The fair value loss on the derivatives classified as held for trading by IVS Italia S.p.A. 
(€411 thousand) has been recognised directly in profit or loss. 

15 - Employee benefits 
This caption amounts to €5,779 thousand (31 December 2008: €5,550 thousand). 
As disclosed in the section on the accounting policies, the Group has defined contribution and defined benefit plans for 
its Italian and French employees only. 
The assumptions used to calculate the Group’s obligations in respect of the long-term benefits are set out below: 

Calculation date 31/12/2009 

Mortality rate INPS-55 charts 

Invalidity rate INPS-2000 charts 

Employee turnover rate 3.00% 

Discount rate 4.50% 

Management salary increase rate 3.00% 
Junior management salary increase 
rate 3.00% 

White collar salary increase rate 3.00% 

Blue collar wage increase rate 3.00% 

Advance rate 2.00% 

Inflation rate 2.00% 

16 – Provisions for risks and charges 
This caption relates to the non-current portion of provisions for risks and charges comprises: 
 

 (€’000) 31/12/2009 31/12/2008 Variation 

Tax                    98                     1                    97  

Other                 461                  565  -               104  

Total                 559                  566  -                  7  

 
The other provisions include the estimated certain or probable liabilities, mainly related to civil and/or labour pending 
disputes. 
The following table provides a breakdown of this caption for each group company: (didn’t import)  
 

(€’000) 31/12/2009 31/12/2008 

IVS ITALIA S.p.A.                 160                  430  

Eurovending S.r.l.                   -                      1  

DDS                   41            -  

Cofradis Sa                   -                     17  

Parodis Sa                   -                     13  

Mega Sa                   -                   105  

Vending system                 253                    -   

Ivancaffè                    7                    -   

Total                 461                  566  
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17 – Deferred tax assets and liabilities  
 
The following tables provide a breakdown of the temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities: 
 

 (€’000) 31/12/2008 Profit (loss) Acquisitions 31/12/2009 

     
Untaxed provisions              305                 99               504               909  

Derecognition of intangible assets              571  -            242                 48               376  

Carry forward of tax losses              283               698             1,017             1,999  

Accrued interest expense            2,964  -            880               435             2,519  

Customer list -          3,883               191  -            471  -          4,164  

Employee benefits -            292  -                8  -              30  -            330  

Leased assets -          5,295             1,201  -            692  -          4,786  

Other -            230                 14  -              34  -            250  

Consolidation adjustments            1,542               119                 -               1,661  

 
        

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) (carrying amount) -          4,035             1,191               777  -          2,067  

Deferred tax assets            6,670               448             1,656             8,774  

Deferred tax liabilities -        10,705               746  -            878  -        10,837  

 
 
18 – Financial liabilities 
The following table gives a breakdown of financial liabilities split between current and non-current and by category: 
 

 (€’000) 31/12/2009 31/12/2008 Variation 

Bank loans                 166,100  260 165,840 

Finance lease liabilities                   7,140  10,644 -3,504 

Other loans and borrowings                   18,007  16,573 1,434 

Shareholders’ loans                       755  1,496 -741 

Bonds                126,056  123,581 2,475 

Total non-current financial liabilities               318,058               152,554             165,504  

Bank loans                   23,068  187,588 -164,520 

Advances from banks                         12  0 12 

Current account overdrafts                   10,827  510 10,317 

Finance lease liabilities                   4,109  6,269 -2,160 

Other loans and borrowings                    9,992  8,580 1,412 

Derivative liabilities                   1,974  717 1,257 

Total current financial liabilities                 49,982               203,664  -153,682 

Total financial liabilities                368,040                356,218  11,822 

 
A breakdown of non-current liabilities by due date is as follows: 
 

 (€’000) Carrying amount 

2011 27,324 

2012 41,744 

2013 22,884 

2014 21,752 

2015 12,028 

After 2015 192,326 
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Total non-current financial liabilities 318,058 

 
Details of the loan agreement signed by IVS Italia S.p.A. and the main financial transactions undertaken during the year 
are as follows: 

a) The loan agreement signed in 2008 established that IVS Italia S.p.A. subordinated the repayment of the 
principal of the shareholders’ loan until it had met the contractual covenants with the bank syndicate.  
With respect to the interest on the shareholders’ loan, IVS Italia S.p.A. is obliged by contract: 

•  not to pay interest on this loan to IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. until the later of (i) the date of full 
repayment of Tranche C of the loan and (ii) 31 March 2012. After this period, it will pay interest only 
between 15 December and 15 June of each year up to a maximum annual nominal rate of 8% 
calculated on the shareholders’ loan and, moreover, subordinated to payment of interest on the 
syndicated loan, repayment of Tranche A (€10 million on 10 December and 10 June of each year) and 
consignment of a statement to the Agent Bank confirming that payment of interest on the 
shareholders’ loan does not prejudice compliance with the contractual covenants in the current and 
subsequent six months; 

•  not to pay interest on the shareholders’ loan to IVS HOLDING S.p.A. in excess of the maximum 
annual nominal rate of 8%, capitalised and not distributed unless the net financial indebtedness/gross 
operating profit ratio is less than 2.7 and, moreover, subordinated to payment of interest on the 
syndicated loan, repayment of Tranche A (€10 million on 10 December and 10 June of each year) and 
consignment of a statement to the Agent Bank confirming that payment of interest on the 
shareholders’ loan does not prejudice compliance with the contractual covenants in the current and 
subsequent six months.   

  
b) During 2009 and in order to comply with the syndicated loan covenants, the Parent waived its right to collect 

€2,374 thousand due from IVS Italia S.p.A. to cover part of its loss. Of this amount, roughly €1.7 million related 
to interest accrued to July 2009 on the loan given to IVS Italia S.p.A. (this waiver is in addition to that of 2008 of 
approximately €8.9 million). 
 

c) During 2009, the Group entered into new derivatives to mitigate interest rate fluctuation risks. As the derivatives 
qualified for hedge accounting under IAS 39, the fair value loss of €929 thousand, calculated by the banks at 
the reporting date, was recognised in the hedging reserve under equity. The fair value loss of €1,044 thousand 
on the sole derivative classified as speculative (held by the Parent) was recognised directly in profit or loss. 
 

As the subsidiary did not pay the interest accrued on the loan of €124,540 thousand in 2008 and 2009, the Parent 
suspended payment of its bond coupons.  
As part of the amendments to the loan agreement between the subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. and the bank syndicate 
headed by IntesaSanPaolo, interest on the loan granted by the Parent is not paid, although it continues to accrue, until 
the later of (i) the date of full repayment of Tranche C of the loan and (ii) 31 March 2012. Accordingly, the bondholders 
resolved to suspend payment of the coupons until the subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. pays back the shareholders’ loan 
without prejudicing the bank loan covenants in their meeting of 23 July 2009. This had the scope of ensuring the Parent 
does not default as the cash inflows from the loan granted to the subsidiary are used to pay the coupons and reimburse 
the bonds. 
 

 
Amounts of financial assets and liabilities 
The following table compares the carrying amounts and fair values of the financial asset and liability classes at the 
reporting date 
 
 (€’000) 

31/12/2009 31/12/2008 

Fair value Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount 

Financial assets 

    Cash and cash equivalents 11,773 11,773 14,693 14,693 

Trade receivables 9,913 9,913 10,781 10,781 

Equity investments 3,606 3,606 2,617 2,617 
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Other financial assets 221 174 269 269 

Total 25,513 25,466 28,360 28,360 

Trade payables 62,320 62,320 47,460 47,460 

Derivatives 1974 1974 717 717 

Finance lease liabilities 11,249 11,249 16,913 16,913 

Variable rate loan liabilities 27,999 27,999 25,153 25,153 

Bonds           126,056  126,056           123,581  123,581 

Bank loans and borrowings  189,168 189,168 187,848 187,848 

Other current loan liabilities             10,839              10,839  510 510 

Shareholders’ loans 755 755 1,496 1,496 

Total 430,360 430,360 403,678 403,678 

 
The trade receivables and payables are all current and their carrying amount is fairly equal to their fair value. 
Derivatives are recognised and measured at fair value at the reporting date. They solely consist of hedging and non-
hedging derivatives held by IVS Italia S.p.A. 
 
Risk management policy 
The Group’s financial and accounting department ensures financing is available by carefully analysing interest rate 
fluctuations on an ongoing basis in relation to its financial exposure. 
 
Market risk 

• Interest rate risk  
The Group’s interest risk management policy has a two-pronged objective: to minimise the cost of funding and 
to decrease its exposure to interest rate fluctuations, as changes in interest rates affect both the fair value of 
variable rate financial assets and liabilities and the Group’s future results of operations. Accordingly, during 
2009, the Group used derivative contracts to hedge interest rate risks. Specifically, it hedged the interest rate 
risks of Tranche A of the syndicated loan taken out by IVS Italia S.p.A. that has a nominal amount of €140 
million. 
 

• Currency risk 
The Group is not exposed to this risk as all its transactions are carried out in Euros. 
 

Credit risk 
a) Credit risk 

The Group procedures require that customer solvency is monitored by each company’s commercial and 
accounting departments before and during transactions by monitoring customer balances. 
Commercial credit risk concentration, arising solely when invoices are issued, is limited given the wide and 
unrelated customer base. As a result, the allowance existing at the reporting date for receivables whose 
recovery is doubtful or improbable is deemed to be appropriate.  

  
b) Market risk 

Interest rate hedges are solely agreed with highly rated counterparts that are selected using various criteria: the 
specialist agency rating, their assets and equity as well as the nature and due date of the transactions. They 
are usually major banks. 
The Group does not trade financial instruments with parties located in geographical areas at high political or 
financial risk. 

 
c) Liquidity risk 
The Group’s objective is to have a debt level that ensures a good ratio of the loan repayment dates to flexible and 
diversified sources of funding. Each group company is free to negotiate credit facilities and agree diversified sources 
of funding (e.g., loans, finance leases, bank credit facilities, etc.) as long as they comply with the covenants of the 
loan agreement between IVS Italia S.p.A. and the bank syndicate. Forecast cash flows from operating activities will 
allow a steady reduction in the ratio of debt to total sources of funding in line with the Group’s business plan, leading 
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to a large decrease in the current liquidity risk level. This is because most of the investments in property, plant and 
equipment, investment property and financial investments have been made. 

  
Exposure to interest rate risk 
At the reporting date, all the Group’s financial liabilities (without considering fluctuations in the fair value of derivatives) 
bear interest at floating or indexed rates. The main sources of financing are  the above-mentioned bank loan with an 
outstanding principal of €168.9 million, indexed to the reference rate, the bonds of €126 million, also indexed to the 
reference rate, the finance lease liabilities, other loans taken out by most of the group companies which normally bear 
interest at the Euribor, and the loan agreed by Vending System Italia S.p.A. with an outstanding principal of €20,537 
thousand. 
 
Covenants 
The loan with an outstanding balance of €168.9 million taken out by IVS Italia S.p.A. from IntesaSanPaolo S.p.A., which 
then syndicated it to a six-member syndicate, has certain covenants which require, inter alia, compliance with financial 
and equity ratios. At the reporting date, this loan made up 46% (31 December 2008: 49%) of the Group’s total financial 
indebtedness (€366,066 thousand at 31 December 2009 excluding the effect of derivatives). The subsidiary requested 
and obtained the banks’ consent to amend the covenants (see note 33 - Events after the reporting date). This consent 
will be formalised with the signing of an amendment to the loan agreement before the date of approval of the financial 
statements by the shareholders. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. The outstanding repayments of the above-mentioned loan have been classified as current and non-
current, as provided for in the original repayment plan. Indeed, notwithstanding the provisions of IAS 1.74, the Parent 
believes that, by signing the amendment to the loan agreement, the lending banks will confirm that there are no 
significant uncertainties about the subsidiary’s ability to continue as a going concern despite the difficult market 
conditions, also thanks to the measures already identified, which will enable it to respond to the changed demand levels 
and its industrial and financial flexibility. 
 

19 - Other current liabilities 
The following table shows other current liabilities at 31 December 2009 and 2008: 
 

(€’000) 31/12/2009 31/12/2008 Variation 

Other liabilities (current and non-current)             12,232  10,795 1,437 

Accrued expenses              1,587  1031 556 

Deferred income                   22  76 -54 

Social security charges payable (current and non-current)              3,106  3,337 -231 

Other tax liabilities (excluding income taxes)              1,915  1,581 334 

Total 18,863 16,821 2,042 

 
Other liabilities include payables to employees for December 2009 remuneration, paid in January 2010, unpaid accrued 
holidays and leave, deposits received from holders of charge keys used to purchase food and beverages from the 
vending machines, advances from customers and/or suppliers and outstanding balances for the acquisition of equity 
investments. 
Social security charges payable include amounts due to the relevant institutions for the annual contributions in line with 
the different legislation ruling in the countries in which the Group is based (Italy, France and Spain). 
Other tax liabilities, part of which is due within one month, mainly consist of withholdings on wages and salaries of the 
Italian employees. 
 

20- Commitments and guarantees 
 
The following table sets out the sureties and guarantees issued by the group companies: 
 

Company 2009 2008 
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IVS Group Holding S.p.A.           189,167                  187,588  

IVS Italy S.p.A. 397 387 

DDS S.r.l. 185 258 

Coffe System S.p.A.                   -   950 

Eurovending S.r.l. 5 39 

Eurcoffe S.r.l.                   -   18 

Total 587                    1,652  

 
These guarantees were mostly given for financing granted by third parties to group companies or for their involvement in 
tenders. 
As provided for contractually, all the shares of IVS Italia S.p.A. and quotas of Food System S.r.l., as well as 90% and 
80% of the quotas of E.V.S. S.r.l. and IVS Serida S.r.l., respectively, have been pledged for the €200 million syndicated 
loan.  
 

Notes to the main income statement captions 

21 - Revenue from sales and services 
The following table shows changes in this caption and a breakdown by geographical segment:  
 

(€’000) 2009 2008 Variation Var. % 

Italy  224,030 196,119 27,911 14% 

France 23,669 23,938 -269 -1% 

Spain 13,365 14,310 -945 -7% 

Revenue from sales and services 261,064 234,367 26,697 11% 

 
Revenue is earned on “supplies”, i.e., amounts collected for sales of food and beverages directly from the automated 
vending machines, “sales with invoices”, i.e., revenue from the sale of products delivered directly to customers and 
revenue from the sale of automated vending machines. The significant overall increase is mainly due to the number of 
vends (supplies), following the acquisitions of companies during the year, the Group’s commercial policies and revised 
product portfolio. 

Other revenue and income 
 
The following table shows variations in this caption: 
 

(€’000) 2009 2008 Variation Var. % 

Other revenue and income  9,377 25,411 -16,034 -63% 

 
The caption includes revenue from the sale of goods, spare parts, equipment and sundry materials to third parties and 
revenue from technical assistance provided to third parties for their automated vending machines.  
It also comprises revenue from the reimbursement of costs, lease income, compensation for damage and prior year 
gains generated by the group companies’ operations. The large reduction on 2008 is due to the transfer of the 
automated vending machine sales business to the Parent in mid 2008.  

23 - Raw materials, consumables, supplies and goods 
The cost of procuring raw materials, consumables, supplies and goods, related to different types of food and beverages, 
underwent the following changes from 2008 to 2009: 
 

 (€’000) 2009 2008 Variation Var. % 

Raw materials, consumables 71,375 65,037 6,338 10% 
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Change in inventories 7,072 8,296 -1,224 -15% 

Total 78,447 73,333 5,114 7% 

 
This caption shows a large increase, mainly due to the growth in the Group’s business volumes. It is shown net of 
premiums, discounts and rebates granted by the key suppliers on special deliveries or when set turnover levels and/or 
total quantities purchased are met. 

24 - Services 
The following table shows changes in this caption: 
 

(€’000) 2009 2008 Variation Var. % 

Services 33,566 27,846 5,721 21% 

 
This caption includes the directors’ fees (see note 31), maintenance services, electricity and utilities (e.g., water, 
telephone, etc.), transportation, administrative, legal and commercial services and use of third party assets (€8,075 
thousand in 2009 compared to €4,626 thousand in 2008).  

25 - Personnel expenses 
This caption of €79,359 thousand includes the cost of filling the vending machines by third party personnel who works 
exclusively for IVS Italia S.p.A. (Accordingly, the cost of which can thus be considered as normal personnel expenses). 
 

(€’000) 2009 2008 Variation Var. % 

Wages and salaries             60,137              56,054               4,083  7% 

Social security contributions             14,288              12,561               1,727  14% 

Employee benefits              3,124               2,754                  370  13% 

Other personnel expenses              1,811                  398               1,413  355% 

Total              79,359              71,767               7,592  11% 

 
As can be seen from the above table, the Group’s average number of employees increased from 1,981 for 2008 to 2,078 
for 2009, justifying the overall increase in the main items of this caption. 
 

 
2009 2008 Variation 

Management 44 40 4 

White collars 527 812 -285 

Blue collars 1,492 1,106 386 

Trainees 15 23 -8 

Total  2,078 1,981 97 

 
The changes in the table are mainly due to the reclassification of the French companies’ employees at the end of 2008. 
 

26 – Other operating costs 
This caption may be analysed as follows: 
 

 (€’000) 2009 2008 Variation Var. % 

Impairment losses on current assets 268 237 31 13% 

Provisions for risks 59 7 52 743% 

Other provisions  35 0 35 0% 

Other operating costs 29,709 32,719 -3010 -9% 
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Total 30,071 32,963 -2,892 -9% 

 
This caption includes the portion of rental fees for the year paid to customers (public and private) to locate machines in 
their premises, using their electricity and water supplies.  

27 – Other income and expense 
The following table gives a breakdown of non-recurring income and expense, showing those arising on the sale of non-
current assets: 
 

(€’000) 2009 2008 Variation Var. % 

Gains on the sale of assets              1,425                  940                  485  52% 

Losses on the sale of assets              1,511               1,670  -               160  -10% 

Net losses on the sale of assets -                 86  -               730                  644  -88% 

Non-recurring income              4,088               2,038               2,050  101% 

Non-recurring expense              1,705               1,353                  352  26% 

Net other non-recurring income              2,383                  685               1,698  248% 

 
Non-recurring income arose on the reversal of the restructuring provision (€3,166 thousand) recognised as part of the 
PPA process when the investment in Vending System Italia S.p.A. was acquired. The provision was fully reversed in 
2009 as the reorganisation scheduled in 2008 was deemed to have been successfully concluded. 
Other non-recurring expense mainly consists of prior year costs for customer bonuses and supplier invoices (the largest 
amounts are €506 thousand for IVS Italia S.p.A. and €324 thousand for Food System S.p.A.) and the release of 
excessive accruals made at 31 December 2008 for premiums to be received from suppliers (€92 thousand). 

28 - Financial income and expense 
The following table gives a breakdown of financial income and expense: 
 
(€’000) 

2009 2008 

Income Expense Income Expense 

Bank interest                   20  -               380                  210  
 

Interest on Banca IMI and syndicated loans 
 

-            8,501  
 

-           10,847  

Interest on BNL loan 
 

-               161  
 

                  -   

Interest on bonds 
 

-            2,516  
 

-            7,901  

Interest on other loans 
 

-            1,934  
 

-            5,916  

Sub total                  20  -          13,492                 210  -          24,664  

Net interest on net financial indebtedness 
 

-          13,472  
 

-          24,454  

Other financial income              1,559  
 

                499  
 

Other financial expense 
 

-               302  
 

-               857  

Net financial income (expense)              1,579  -          13,794                 709  -          25,521  

Net loss on interest rate derivatives 
 

-               405  
 

-               553  

Net gain (loss) on currency derivatives 
    

Net exchange rate losses 
 

-                  6  
  

Net exchange rate losses and net loss on derivatives 
 

-              411  
 

-              553  

Net financial income (expense), net exchange rate losses and net loss on derivatives 
 

-           12,626  
 

-           25,365  

 

29 – Impairment losses on assets 
The balance of €109 thousand (2008: €662 thousand) mainly relates to the Group’s share of losses for the year of the 
equity-accounted investees.  
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30 - Income tax expense 
Current and deferred taxes are analysed in the following table: 
 

(€’000) 2009 2008 Variation Var. % 

Current tax expense 4,642 5,236 -594 -11% 

Change in deferred tax liabilities -746 187 -933 -499% 

Change in deferred tax assets -448 -2,866 2,418 -84% 

Relief from national tax consolidation scheme -1,424                   -   -1,424 0% 

Total 2,024 2,557 -533 -21% 

 
Note 17 provides details of the captions that lead to the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

Other information 

31 - Related party transactions 
The following tables provide information about transactions with related parties and their impact on the Group’s financial 
position and results of operations: 
 
(€’000) Company Amount % of financial 

statements 
caption 

Carrying amount 

Trade receivables Ciesse Caffè  5 

  

 

Fast Service 27 

  

 

MC-AG Sas 223 

  

 

Sogeda S.r.l. 356 

  

 

Gimoka S.r.l. 245 

  Total trade receivables 

 

856 9% 9,913 

(€’000) Company Amount % of financial 
statements 

caption 

Carrying amount 

Trade payables Ciesse Caffè S.r.l. 3 

  

 

Universo Vending S.r.l. 289 

  

 

Fast Service S.r.l. 2,278 

  

 

MC-AG SAS  3 

  

 

Sogeda S.r.l. 6 

  

 

Gimoka S.r.l. 1,630 

  

 

Astro 24 

  Total trade payables 

 

4,233 7% 62,320 

Financial liabilities Crimo S.r.l. 520 

  Total financial liabilities 

 

520 0.14% 368,040 

(€’000) Company Amount % of financial 
statements 

caption 

Carrying amount 

Revenue from sales of goods, Plus Sas 878 

sundry materials, spare parts Ciesse Caffè S.r.l. 18 

Sogeda S.r.l. 242 

Universo Vending S.r.l. 1 

MC-AG SAS  2 
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(€’000) Company Amount % of financial 
statements 

caption 

Carrying amount 

Gimoka S.r.l. 541 

Total revenue from sales of goods 
 

1,682 18% 9,377 

(€’000) Company Amount % of financial 
statements 

caption 

Carrying amount 

Revenue from sales of equipment Ciesse Caffè S.r.l. 2 

 
MC-AG Sas  14 

 
Sogeda S.r.l. 16 

 
Gimoka S.r.l. 0 

Revenue from sales of equipment, spare parts  32 0.3% 9,377 

Revenue from services Plus Sas                        22  

Ciesse Caffè S.r.l.                          1  

Fast Service S.r.l.                        86  

Sogeda S.r.l.                          7  

Total revenue from services                       116  1%                      9,377  

(€’000) Company Amount % of financial 
statements 

caption 

Carrying amount 

Other operating revenue Fast Service S.r.l. 20 

Sogeda S.r.l. 27 

MC-AG Sas  5 

Total other operating revenue                        52  1% 9,377 

(€’000) Company Amount % of financial 
statements 

caption 

Carrying amount 

Other non-recurring income Ciesse Caffè S.r.l.                        20  
  

Total other non-recurring income                        20  0.49%                      4,088  

(€’000) Company Amount % of financial 
statements 

caption 

Carrying amount 

Purchases of products Fast Service 507 

Sogeda S.r.l. 14 

Gimoka S.r.l. 3,359 

Universo Vending S.r.l. 1,507 

Total purchases of products 5,387 8%                     71,375  

(€’000) Company Amount % of financial 
statements 

caption 

Carrying amount 

Services Ciesse Caffè  21 
  

 
Universo Vending S.r.l. 18 

  

 
Gimoka S.r.l. 23 

  

 
MC-AG Sas 295 
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(€’000) Company Amount % of financial 
statements 

caption 

Carrying amount 

 
Sogeda S.r.l. 5 

  
Total services 

 
362 1% 25,571 

(€’000) Company Amount % of financial 
statements 

caption 

Carrying amount 

Other operating costs Fast Service S.r.l.                    4,249  

Universo Vending S.r.l.                          1  

Immobiliare Vending                    2,190  

Gimoka S.r.l.                          1  

Total other operating costs                    6,441  21% 30,071 

 
32 – Directors’ fees 
 
The following table shows the directors’ fees: 
 
(€’000) 2009 2008 Variation Var. % 

Directors’ fees 2,555 2,616 -61 -2% 

Share-based payment              -               -  0 0% 

Other long-term benefits              -               -  0 0% 

Total 2,555 2,616 -61 -2% 

 

33 - Events after the reporting date 

As disclosed in the section on “Corporate information”, the syndicate banks formalised their consent to waiving their right 
to impose the provisions of article 19 of the €200 million loan agreement signed with IVS Italia S.p.A. in April 2009. Their 
requests included: 

1. The signing of an amendment by IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A., IVS Italia S.p.A. and the lending banks of an 
amendment and supplement to the subordination and postponement agreement signed on 5 March 2008, 
whereby all amounts due by IVS Italia S.p.A. to its Parent as a result of trading transactions and VAT advances 
will be subordinated, and the repayment of the shareholders’ loan subordinated and postponed.  

2. IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. will waive its right to collect interest on the shareholders’ loan, which will 
nonetheless continue to accrue, up to either (i) the date of full repayment of Tranche of the loan and (ii) 31 
March 2012, whichever is later.  

3. The Parent will give the subsidiary another €5 million to strengthen its financial position. 

After having evaluated these requests, the directors held that they are in the Group’s interests and will therefore sign the 
relevant documents before the date of approval of the subsidiary’s financial statements 

This consent will allow the subsidiary to formalise the amendment to the loan agreement before the date of the 
shareholders’ meeting held to approve the financial statements.  
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Transition to the IFRS 

Introduction 
In 2006 and 2007, as IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. was a financial holding company, it met the conditions set out in 
article 2435-bis of the Italian Civil Code for the preparation of financial statements in a condensed format available for 
companies that do not exceed at least two of the following three thresholds for two consecutive years: 

• total assets: €4,400,000; 

• revenue from sales and services: €8,800,000; 

• average number of employees during the year: 50. 
As a result of the above, pursuant to article 2.f/g of Legislative decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005, as referred to by 
article 3 of same decree, it could not prepare consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS. 
 
On the other hand, its subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. was required to prepare consolidated financial statements and could 
not avail of the exemption from preparation that would have been available had its Parent presented consolidated 
financial statements. Therefore, it could opt to prepare its consolidated financial statements under IFRS, which it did. It 
also chose to prepare its separate financial statements at 31 December 2008 under IFRS. As part of the transition 
process, the IFRS first-time adoption date of IVS Italia S.p.A. and all its subsidiaries was identified as 1 January 2007. 
 
Due to the above and because of the excessive burden arising from the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
under Italian GAAP, IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. did not draw up consolidated financial statements at 31 December 
2008. 
 
In 2009, as the quantitative thresholds giving the parent the faculty to prepare its financial statements in a condensed 
format were exceeded, the Parent choose to draw up its financial statements under IFRS. The effects of the change in 
accounting policies have been measured on the basis of the latest consolidated financial statements prepared by the 
Parent, i.e. those at 1 January 2008. As it is impossible to provide disclosures about the transition effects on the 
consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2008, they are presented only under IFRS. 
 
To present the IFRS transition effects and in order to meet the disclosure requirements of IFRS 1.39-a)/b) and IFRS 1.40 
about the effect of IFRS first-time adoption - with the above-mentioned limitations -, IVS GROUP HOLDING S.p.A. has 
prepared these notes, which include: 

� the options adopted by the Parent in the application of IFRS; 
� a reconciliation of equity at 1 January 2008;  
� the IFRS statement of financial position at 1 January 2008, showing the IFRS adjustments; 
� comments on the statement of financial position at 1 January 2008. 

Options adopted by the Parent in the application of IFRS 
As required by IFRS 1, the Parent has prepared an opening IFRS statement of financial position at the date of transition 
to IFRS (1 January 2008), in which it has: 

• recognised solely all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by IFRS; 

• reclassified items that it recognised in accordance with Italian GAAP as one type of asset, liability or 
component of equity, but are a different type of asset, liability or component of equity in accordance with 
IFRS; 

• applied the IFRS in measuring all recognised assets and liabilities. 
The effects of IFRS transition on opening balances of assets and liabilities has been recognised in opening equity at the 
transition date, net of the tax effect that has been, from time to time, recognised in deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax 
assets. 
Upon first adoption (1 January 2008), the Parent chose the following options provided for by the IFRS.  
 
The Parent’s key decisions in relation to those Standards that provide application options are summarised below: 
 
IAS 1 “Presentation of financial statements” 
Assets and liabilities are classified as current or non-current in the statement of financial position. Expenses are 
presented based on their nature in the income statement. 
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IAS 2 “Inventories” 
Inventories are measured using the FIFO method.  
 
IAS 16 “Property, plant and equipment” and IAS 40 “Investment property”  
Measurement after initial recognition is based on the cost model. The Parent did not choose the fair value measurement 
model for property, plant and equipment. 
 
IAS 19 “Employee benefits”  
Actuarial gains and losses accumulated from the inception of the plan up to the IFRS transition date have been fully 
recognised in equity. 
 
IFRS 3 “Business combinations” 
As the subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. had already presented IFRS-compliant consolidated financial statements at 31 
December 2008, pursuant to IFRS 1.D17, its assets and liabilities have been consolidated using the relevant carrying 
amounts shown at 1 January 2008 and 31 December 2008. 
With reference to the options chosen by the IVS Italia S.p.A. when it prepared its IFRS consolidated financial 
statements, as it did not prepare Italian GAAP consolidated financial statements at the transition date, it availed of the 
exemption provided by IFRS 1.IG.Example 6 and determined the fair value of its subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities 
before the transition date, i.e. at 1 January 2007, and compared those amounts with the cost of the related investments 
recognised under Italian GAAP. Any resulting difference has been recognised as Goodwill, if the cost exceeded the its 
share in the relevant equity, or Retained earnings, if not. 
Acquisitions of business units and investments made during 2007 and representing business combinations have been 
treated in accordance with IFRS 3 and, therefore, as part of the purchase price allocation, also those assets that had not 
been recognised previously or that had been recognised at a lower amount (customer lists/land and buildings) have 
been recognised at fair value as goodwill allocation.  
Acquisitions and sales of non-controlling interests that are not business combinations but which can be related to 
restructurings have been recognised as equity transactions and the difference between the portion of exchanged equity 
and the consideration has been recognised as a gain or loss directly in equity. 
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Reconciliation of 2007 equity 
The Italian GAAP carrying amounts have been restated as a result of the differences arising from the application of IFRS 
and the IFRS options chosen by the Parent. The related effects on opening equity at 1 January 2008 have been, in 
certain cases, material. The individual adjustments, net of taxes, are detailed in the following table: 
 
 
 01/01/2008 
EQUITY 35,859 
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 3,892 
ITALIAN GAAP EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNER OF THE PARENT 31,967 

IFRS 3 - Business combinations – PPA amortisation  (735) 
IFRS 3 - Business combinations – Election of transition date  909 
IFRS 3 - Business combinations – Leases (1,512) 
IFRS 3 - Business restructuring (1,927) 
IFRS 5 - Measurement of assets held for sale 106 
IAS 8 - Correction of errors  424 
IAS 16 - Separation of land from owned buildings 127 
IAS 17 – Leases (5,266) 
IAS 19 - Employee benefits 469 
IAS 28 - Measurement of associates using the equity method 73 
IAS 36 - Derecognition of impairment losses on investments 978 
IAS 36 - Derecognition of amortisation of goodwill 25,895 
IAS 38 - Derecognition of intangible assets  (1,543) 
IAS 39 - Measurement of loans (40) 
IAS 39 - Measurement of derivatives 433 

IFRS EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS OF THE PARENT 50,358 
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 3,958 
EQUITY 54,316 

  VARIATION 18,457 

 
The following considerations are useful in connection with the above table: 

- IVS Italia S.p.A.’s restatement of business combinations led to the following effects: 
� the allocation of goodwill arising on consolidation arising from business combinations subsequent to 

the transition date to depreciable assets with finite (customer list/buildings) or indefinite (land) useful 
lives not recognised or recognised at a lower amount in the consolidated companies’ financial 
statements;  

� an adjustment to opening equity arising from the restatement of transactions carried out prior to the 
transition date on the basis of the IFRS financial statements prepared by the subsidiaries at the 
transition date and the reversal of amortisation of goodwill arising on consolidation, which was 
recognised as “retained earnings” in the Italian GAAP consolidated financial statements at 31 
December 2007, but which was not actually recognised before the transition date; 

� the elimination of the effect of finance leases of subsidiaries recognised directly in equity. Under IFRS, 
such effect has been already presented in the separate financial statements of consolidated 
companies and, hence, is already included in the calculation of goodwill arising on consolidation;  

� the adjustments to the amounts recognised following the restructuring of the France sub-group, which, 
under Italian GAAP, led to the recognition of a consolidation reserve (following the incorporation of the 
sub-holding company) and the restatement of goodwill arising on the consolidation of the companies 
involved in such restructuring. Indeed, under IFRS, such transaction does not qualify as a business 
combination but as a restructuring and, therefore, it has not led to the remeasurement of acquired 
assets and liabilities, but rather to the recognition of any emerging differences in equity. 

- Reda S.r.l., acquired in 2007, has been excluded from the consolidation scope as it qualifies as being held for 
sale under IFRS; 

- the amounts due to shareholders have been reclassified as a result of the reclassification of amounts due to 
non-controlling shareholders as a reduction in equity; 

- errors made in the Italian GAAP consolidated financial statements arising from adjustments to the subsidiaries’ 
financial statements and issues identified in the consolidation entries have been corrected during the transition 
process; 
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- the effect of the separation of land from buildings recognised in the Parent’s separate financial statements has 
been reflected; 

- deferred tax assets and liabilities have been correctly recognised, following the adoption of IAS 17, and the 
lease reserve recognised in the Parent’s separate financial statements at 1 January 2007 and eliminated during 
2007 has been derecognised;  

- the defined benefit plans recognised by the group companies have been measured using actuarial techniques; 
- equity-accounted associates have been included in the consolidation scope; 
- the impairment losses on the Group’s investments in Spanish companies, which had been recognised in the 

Italian GAAP 2007 consolidated profit and loss account, have been reversed and recognised in the separate 
financial statements of the subsidiaries in which such investments were recognised at the transition date; 

- amortisation of goodwill either recognised in the various separate financial statements or arising on 
consolidation has been reversed as not applicable under IFRS, which require that goodwill be tested for 
impairment and not amortised; 

- intangible assets that do not qualify as intangible assets under IAS 38, which had been recognised by the 
Parent under Italian GAAP or by the subsidiaries after the acquisition date, have been derecognised; 

- hedging and speculative derivatives respectively held by the Parent and subsidiaries have been measured at 
fair value.  
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Effects of IFRS adoption on the statement of financial position at 1 January 2008 

   

 
IFRS IFRS adjustments 

Italian 
GAAP 

    01/01/2008 
 

01/01/2008 

ASSETS     
  Non-current assets     

  Intangible assets 
 

1 11,371 6,209 5,162 
Goodwill 

 
2 242,930 16,751 226,180 

Property, plant and equipment 
 

3 135,109 (1,047) 136,156 
Civil buildings 

 
4 1,269 1,269 0 

Equity investments and loans and receivables 
 

5 3,376 (127) 3,504 
Deferred tax assets 

 
6 4,007 2,123 1,885 

Other non-current assets 
  

224 0 224 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS A   398,286 25,177 373,109 

Current assets         
Inventories 

 
7 17,918 (1,155) 19,073 

Trade receivables 
 

8 13,106 (2,089) 15,196 
Tax assets 

  
1,904 

 
1,904 

Derivative assets 
 

9 598 598 0 
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
10 11,776 (229) 12,005 

Other current assets 
 

11 26,098 (833) 26,931 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS B   71,399 (3,709) 75,108 

Discontinued operations/assets held for sale C 12 1,074 1,074   

TOTAL ASSETS A+B+C   470,760 22,542 448,217 

0   
 

  
 

  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES         

Equity          

Share capital   
 

64,002 
 

64,002 
Reserves 

  
2,339 (1,042) 3,381 

Losses carried forward 
  

(11,735) (569) (11,166) 
Loss for the year 

  
(4,247) 20,003 (24,250) 

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS OF THE PARENT D   50,358.405 18,391 31,967 

Share capital and reserves attributable to non-controlling interests 
  

3,500 (143) 3,643 
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 

  
458 208 250 

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS     3,958 65 3,892 

Share capital and reserves 
  

58,106 (1,754) 59,860 
Loss for the year 

  
(3,790) 20,211 (24,001) 

EQUITY 
  

54,316 18,457 35,859 

Non-current liabilities         
Bonds 

 
13 121,240 0 121,240 

Non-current loan liabilities 
 

14 145,029 (14,191) 159,220 
Shareholders’ loans 

  
990 

 
990 

Employee benefits 
 

15 5,151 (1,075) 6,226 
Provisions for risks and charges 

 
16 719 4 715 

Deferred tax liabilities 
 

17 10,229 9,365 864 
Other non-current liabilities 

  
988 0 988 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES E   284,346 (5,897) 290,242 

Current liabilities         
Current loan liabilities 

 
18 61,074 12,753 48,321 

Derivatives 
 

19 61 61 0 
Trade payables 

 
20 54,003 (2,100) 56,103 

Amounts due to subsidiaries and associates 
  

0 0 0 
Tax liabilities 

 
21 2,242 (74) 2,317 

Other current liabilities 
 

22 14,718 (656) 15,374 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES F   132,098 9,984 122,115 

Liabilities associated with discontinued operations/assets held for sale G         

TOTAL LIABILITIES  (G=E+F+G)   416,444 4,087 412,357 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES D+H   470,760 22,543 448,217 
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Notes 
1. Intangible assets: the overall adjustment is a positive €6,209 thousand, detailed as follows: 

• a decrease of €1,745 thousand following the reclassification of leasehold improvements from intangible 
assets to property, plant and equipment;  

• a decrease of €2,208 thousand following the derecognition of the carrying amount of prior year and 2007 
costs that had been capitalised under Italian GAAP but which do not qualify for recognition as assets under 
IFRS; 

• a decrease of €50 thousand due to the reclassification of transaction costs for a syndicated loan no longer 
recognised as financial expense as accounted for at amortised cost; 

• a decrease of €64 thousand following the derecognition of research expenses; 

• a decrease of €161 thousand following the derecognition of start up and capital costs at 31 December 
2007; 

• an increase of €12,190 thousand following the allocation of part of the consideration paid for the acquisition 
of various business units during 2007 to the customer list  and, upon consolidation, the allocation of the 
carrying amount of investments in companies, over which control was acquired in 2007;  

• a decrease of €1,231 thousand following amortisation of the above-mentioned customer list ; 

• a decrease of €13 thousand arising from the correction of inconsistencies identified in the consolidation 
entries made for Italian GAAP consolidation purposes; 

• a decrease of €427 thousand, which is the portion of the carrying amount of the customer list eliminated 
upon consolidation as arising from an intragroup sale of a business unit; 

• a decrease of €81 thousand due to the exclusion of Reda S.r.l. from the consolidation scope. 
 

2. Goodwill: the overall adjustment of €16,751 thousand relates to: 

• an increase of €19,117 thousand due to the derecognition of the 2007 amortisation expense recognised in 
the Italian GAAP separate financial statements; 

• an increase of €7,931 thousand due to the derecognition of the 2007 amortisation expense on goodwill 
arising on consolidation recognised in the Italian GAAP consolidated financial statements; 

• a decrease of €10,561 thousand following the reclassification of the customer list’s fair value arising from 
the above-mentioned purchase price allocation process to intangible assets; 

• a decrease of €580 thousand due to the exclusion of Reda S.r.l. the consolidation scope; 

• an increase of €49 thousand arising from the correction of inconsistencies identified in the consolidation 
entries made for Italian GAAP consolidation purposes; 

• an increase of €795 thousand following the restatement of goodwill arising on consolidation on the basis of 
the subsidiaries’ equities at 1 January 2007, as provided for by IFRS 1.IG.Example 6 (see paragraph 
“Options adopted by the Parent in the application of IFRS”). 

 
3. Property, plant and equipment: the overall adjustment is a negative €1,047 thousand, detailed as follows: 

• a decrease of €1,356 thousand following the correction of errors identified in the recognition of leases 
under IAS 17 in the Italian GAAP consolidated financial statements; 

• a decrease of €1,745 thousand following the reclassification of leasehold improvements to intangible 
assets; 

• a decrease of €1,269 thousand due to the reclassification of leased investment property to the relevant 
caption, as expressly required by IAS 40; 

• an increase of €152 thousand due to the separation of the carrying amount of land from owned and leased 
buildings, with the consequent reversal of the relevant accumulated depreciation, as indefinite-lived assets 
are not amortised under IFRS; 

• a decrease of €178 thousand for the reclassification of a property that was sold in April 2008 to assets 
held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5; 

• an increase of €6 thousand following the suspension of depreciation on assets held for sale; 

• a decrease of €85 thousand due to the exclusion of Reda S.r.l. from the consolidation scope; 

• a decrease of €572 thousand following the correction of errors identified in the Italian GAAP consolidated 
financial statements, due to adjustments to the subsidiaries’ financial statements; 

• a decrease of €46 thousand arising from the correction of inconsistencies identified in the consolidation 
entries made for Italian GAAP consolidation purposes; 
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• an increase of €556 thousand due to the allocation upon consolidation of the carrying amount of the 
investment in the French company Sci Dca, over which control was obtained during 2007. 

 
4. Investment property: the €1,269 thousand adjustment has been made to present investment property 

separately as required by IAS 40. 
 
5. Equity investments: the negative adjustment of €127 thousand relates to: 

• a decrease of €111 thousand due to the exclusion of the investment in Reda S.r.l. from the consolidation 
scope; 

• an increase of €73 thousand due to the inclusion of the associates Universo Vending, Ristora System and 
Ciesse Caffè in the consolidation scope using the equity method; 

• a decrease of €89 thousand arising from the correction of inconsistencies identified in the consolidation 
entries made for Italian GAAP consolidation purposes. 

 
6. Deferred tax assets: as a result of the IFRS adjustments to equity at 31 December 2007, deferred tax assets 

increased by €2,123 thousand. 
 

7. Inventories: the €1,155 thousand negative adjustment comprises a decrease of €331 thousand relating to that 
described in note 3 to the income statement and a decrease of €824 thousand due to the exclusion of the 
investment in Reda S.r.l. from the consolidation scope.  

 
8. Trade receivables: the negative adjustment of €2,089 thousand is due to: 

• a decrease of €1,833 thousand due to the exclusion of the investment in Reda S.r.l. from the consolidation 
scope; 

• a decrease of €217 thousand following the correction of errors identified in the Italian GAAP consolidated 
financial statements, due to adjustments to the subsidiaries’ financial statements; 

• a decrease of €39 thousand arising from the correction of inconsistencies identified in the consolidation 
entries made for Italian GAAP consolidation purposes. 

 
9. Derivative assets: the positive adjustment of €598 thousand is due to the fair value measurement of derivatives 

hedging loans. 
 

10. Cash and cash equivalents: the €229 thousand negative adjustment comprises a decrease of €87 thousand 
following the correction of errors identified in the Italian GAAP consolidated financial statements and a decrease 
of €142 thousand due to the exclusion of the investment in Reda S.r.l. from the consolidation scope. 

 
11. Other current assets: the negative adjustment of €833 thousand relates to: 

• a decrease of €788 thousand due to the derecognition of prepayments following the adoption of the 
amortised cost method; 

• a decrease of €10 thousand due to the exclusion of Reda S.r.l. from the consolidation scope; 

• a decrease of €22 thousand due to the reclassification of amounts due to shareholders as a reduction in 
equity; 

• a decrease of €13 thousand following the correction of errors identified in the Italian GAAP consolidated 
financial statements. 

 
12. Assets held for sale: the €1,074 thousand adjustment relates to:  

• an increase of €178 thousand following the reclassification of property, plant and equipment, less a fair 
value loss of €8 thousand recognised as a decrease in the carrying amount; 

• an increase of €903 following the reclassification of investments in subsidiaries, plus a fair value gain of €1 
thousand recognised as an increase in the carrying amount. 

 
13. Non-current loan liabilities: the negative adjustment of €14,191 thousand is due to: 

• a decrease of €356 thousand following the correction of errors identified in the recognition of leases under 
IAS 17 in the Italian GAAP consolidated financial statements; 
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• a decrease of €12,170 thousand following the reclassification from non-current to current loan liabilities as 
a result of the correct recognition of leases under IAS 17; 

• a decrease of €1,000 thousand due to the exclusion of the investment in Reda S.r.l. from the consolidation 
scope;  

• a decrease of €665 thousand due to the decrease in the principal amount following the adoption of the 
amortised cost method. 

 
 

14. Employee benefits: the decrease of €1,075 thousand in the liability is due to a decrease of €80 thousand due to 
the exclusion of the investment in Reda S.r.l. from the consolidation scope, the decrease of €737 thousand 
following the discounting of the Italian post-employment benefit liability in accordance with IAS 19 and a 
decrease of €258 thousand following the reclassification of liabilities to pension funds to post-employment 
benefits. The Parent engaged an independent actuary for the valuation of the restated amounts in accordance 
with IFRS.  

 
15. Provision for risks and charges: the €4 thousand increase is the aggregate of a decrease of €5 thousand due to 

the exclusion of Reda S.r.l. from the consolidation scopeand a €9 thousand increase following the correction of 
errors identified in the Italian GAAP consolidated financial statements. 

 
16. Deferred tax liabilities: the recognition of IFRS adjustments to the statement of financial position at 31 

December 2007 led to an increase of €9,365 thousand in deferred tax liabilities. 
 
17. Current loan liabilities: the €12,753 thousand increase is due to: 

• an increase of €12,170 thousand following the reclassification from non-current to current loan liabilities as 
a result of the correct recognition of leases under IAS 17; 

• a decrease of €118 thousand due to the decrease in the current portion of the principal amount following 
the adoption of the amortised cost method; 

• an increase of €701 thousand due to the reclassification of accrued but unpaid interest expense from other 
current liabilities. 

 
18. Derivatives: the increase of €61 thousand is due to the recognition of derivative liabilities which had not been 

recognised under Italian GAAP as they were held for hedging purposes.  
 

19. Trade payables: the €2,100 thousand decrease comprises a decrease of €1,869 thousand due to the exclusion 
of Reda S.r.l. from the consolidation scope and a decrease of €231 thousand following the correction of errors 
identified in the Italian GAAP consolidated financial statements, due to adjustments to the subsidiaries’ financial 
statements. 

 
20. Tax liabilities: the €74 thousand decrease comprises a decrease of €9 thousand due to the exclusion of Reda 

S.r.l. from the consolidation scope and a decrease of €65 thousand following the correction of errors identified 
in the Italian GAAP consolidated financial statements. 

 
21. Other current liabilities: the adjustment comprises an increase of €259 thousand for the reclassification of 

liabilities to pension funds from post-employment benefits, a decrease of €701 thousand due to the 
reclassification of accrued but unpaid interest expense to the relevant financial liabilities, a decrease of €141 
thousand due to the exclusion of Reda S.r.l. from the consolidation scope and a decrease of €74 thousand 
following the correction of errors identified in the Italian GAAP consolidated financial statements. 

 
Seriate, 28 May 2010 
 
 On behalf of the Board of directors 
 Chairman 
 Cesare Cerea  
 (signed on the original) 

 


